NETTLEBED ACQUISITION CORP Form S-3ASR July 19, 2007

OuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 18, 2007

Registration No. 333-

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM S-3 REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

IRON MOUNTAIN
INCORPORATED
IM CAPITAL TRUST I
(Exact name of registrant as

specified in its charter)

Delaware

23-2588479

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction

32-6001073 (I.R.S. Employer

of incorporation or organization)

Identification No.)

745 Atlantic Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts 02111, (617) 535-4766

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

C. RICHARD REESE

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer 745 Atlantic Avenue Boston, Massachusetts 02111 (617) 535-4766 Copy to:

WILLIAM J. CURRY, ESQ. Sullivan & Worcester LLP One Post Office Square Boston, Massachusetts 02109 (617) 338-2800

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after the effective date of this registration statement as determined in light of market conditions and other factors.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box: o

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box: ý

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering, o

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. o

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.D. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box. ý

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box. o

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Securities to be Registered(1)	be Registered	Offering Price Per Unit	Aggregate Offering Price	Amount of Registration Fee
Debt Securities of Iron Mountain(2)				
Common Stock, \$0.01 par value per share, of Iron Mountain				
Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value per share, of Iron Mountain				
Depositary Shares Representing Preferred Stock of Iron Mountain				
Warrants of Iron Mountain				
Stock Purchase Contracts of Iron Mountain				
Stock Purchase Units of Iron Mountain(3)				
Trust Preferred Securities of IM Capital Trust I				
Guarantees of Trust Preferred Securities of IM Capital Trust I by Iron Mountain(4)				
Guarantees of Debt Securities of Iron Mountain(5)				
Total	(6)(7)	(6)(7)	(6)(7)	(8)
Footnotes on next page				

- (1)

 Any securities registered hereunder may be sold separately or as units with other securities registered hereunder. There are also being registered an indeterminate principal amount of guarantees of debt securities by the Guarantors (as defined herein).
- (2)

 Debt securities may be issued and sold to IM Capital Trust I in which event such debt securities may later be distributed to the holders of trust preferred securities of IM Capital Trust I in certain circumstances including upon a dissolution of IM Capital Trust I and the distribution of its assets.
- (3)

 Each stock purchase unit consists of (a) a stock purchase contract, under which the holder, upon settlement, will purchase an indeterminate number of shares of common stock of Iron Mountain and (b) a beneficial interest in either trust preferred securities of IM Capital Trust I or debt obligations of third parties, including U.S. treasury securities. Each beneficial interest will be pledged to secure the obligation of such holder to purchase such shares of common stock. No separate consideration will be received for the stock purchase contracts.
- (4) No separate consideration will be received for the guarantees or any other such obligations.
- (5)

 There is being registered hereunder all guarantees and other obligations that certain of Iron Mountain's subsidiaries listed on the "Subsidiary Guarantor Registrants" table may have with respect to debt securities that may be issued by Iron Mountain. No separate consideration will be received for the guarantees or any other such obligations.
- (6)
 Not applicable pursuant to Form S-3 General Instruction II.E.
- (7)

 An indeterminate aggregate offering price or number of securities of each identified class is being registered as may from time to time be offered at indeterminate prices. Separate consideration may or may not be received for securities that are issuable on exercise, conversion or exchange of other securities.
- (8)

 Deferred in reliance upon Rule 456(b) and Rule 457(r) under the Securities Act of 1933, except for \$6,420 previously paid in respect of \$60,000,000 aggregate amount of unsold securities being carried forward from Iron Mountain Incorporated's registration statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-139916). Pursuant to Rule 457(p) under the Securities Act of 1933, such unutilized filing fee may be applied to the filing fee payable pursuant to this registration statement.

SUBSIDIARY GUARANTOR REGISTRANTS(1)

Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter	State or Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization	IRS Employer Identification Number
COMAC, Inc.	Delaware	94-3229868
Iron Mountain Global, Inc.	Delaware	04-3441680
Iron Mountain Global LLC	Delaware	04-3545070
Iron Mountain Government Services Incorporated	Delaware	54-2110823
Iron Mountain Information Management, Inc.	Delaware	04-3038590
Iron Mountain Intellectual Property Management, Inc.	Delaware	77-0154485
Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 1998	Connecticut	06-6466469
Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 1999	Connecticut	06-6496076
Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 2001	Connecticut	20-7474719
Mountain Real Estate Assets, Inc.	Delaware	04-3545066
Mountain Reserve III, Inc.	Delaware	47-0952067
Nettlebed Acquisition Corp.	Delaware	20-0388018
Treeline Services Corporation	Delaware	54-2110821

Any of the above registrants may fully and unconditionally guarantee on a joint and several basis any series of debt securities of Iron Mountain Incorporated offered by the prospectus contained as part of this registration statement as set forth in a related prospectus supplement.

EXPLANATORY NOTE

This registration statement consists of two separate prospectuses covering:

(1)

- (1)

 debt securities, guarantees, common stock, preferred stock, depositary shares, warrants, stock purchase contracts and stock purchase units of Iron

 Mountain Incorporated and trust preferred securities of IM Capital Trust I, and guarantees thereof by Iron Mountain Incorporated, to be offered from
 time to time by the registrants; and
- (2) common stock of Iron Mountain Incorporated to be issued under a direct stock purchase plan of Iron Mountain Incorporated.

PROSPECTUS

Iron Mountain Incorporated

Debt Securities, Preferred Stock, Depositary Shares, Common Stock and Warrants

We may from time to	o time offer:
C	debt securities;
s	shares of our preferred stock;
f	fractional shares of our preferred stock in the form of depositary shares;
s	shares of our common stock;
V	warrants to purchase any of these securities; or
S	stock purchase contracts.

These securities may be offered and sold separately or together in units with other securities described in this prospectus.

In connection with the debt securities, substantially all of our present and future wholly owned domestic subsidiaries may, on a joint and several basis, offer full and unconditional guarantees of our obligations under the debt securities.

IM Capital Trust I may, from time to time, offer trust preferred securities which will be fully and unconditionally guaranteed by us. Our guarantees may be senior or subordinated. The trust preferred securities may be offered and sold separately or together in units with other securities described in this prospectus.

We and IM Capital Trust I will indicate the particular securities we offer and their specific terms in a supplement to this prospectus. In each case we would describe the type and amount of securities we are offering, the initial public offering price and the other terms of the offering.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "IRM." We will make applications to list any shares of common stock sold pursuant to a supplement to this prospectus on the NYSE. We have not determined whether we will list any of the other securities we may offer on any exchange or over-the-counter market. If we decide to seek listing of any securities, the supplement will disclose the exchange or market.

Investing in our securities involves risks. See "Risk Factors" on page 2.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Our and IM Capital Trust I's principal executive office is 745 Atlantic Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts 02111 and our and IM Capital Trust I's telephone number is (617) 535-4766.

The date of this prospectus is July 18, 2007.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
About This Prospectus	(i)
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	(ii)
Our Company	1
IM Capital Trust I	1
Risk Factors	2
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges	2
Use of Proceeds	2
Description of Our Debt Securities	3
Description of Our Capital Stock	10
Description of Our Depositary Shares	12
Description of Our Warrants	16
Description of the Stock Purchase Contracts and the Stock Purchase Units	17
Description of the Trust Preferred Securities	18
Description of the Trust Preferred Securities Guarantee	19
Relationship Among the Debt Securities, the Trust Preferred Securities and the Trust Preferred Securities Guarantee	22
Description of Certain Provisions of Delaware Law and Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws	24
Plan of Distribution	26
Validity of the Offered Securities	27
Experts	27
Where You Can Find More Information	27
Documents Incorporated By Reference	28

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, using a "shelf" registration process. Under this shelf process, we may sell any combination of the securities described in this prospectus in one or more offerings. This prospectus provides you with a general description of the securities we may offer. Each time we sell securities, we will provide a prospectus supplement containing specific information about the terms of that offering. The prospectus supplement may also add, update, or change information contained in this prospectus. You should read both this prospectus and any prospectus supplement, together with additional information described under the heading "Where You Can Find More Information" and "Documents Incorporated By Reference."

We have not included, or incorporated by reference, separate financial statements of IM Capital Trust in this prospectus. Neither we nor IM Capital Trust consider these financial statements material to holders of the trust preferred securities because:

IM Capital Trust is a special purpose entity;

IM Capital Trust does not have any operating history or independent operations; and

IM Capital Trust is not engaged in, nor will it engage in, any activity other than issuing trust preferred and trust common securities, investing in and holding our debt securities and engaging in related activities.

Furthermore, the combination of our obligations under our debt securities, the associated indentures, IM Capital Trust's declaration of trust and our related guarantees provide a full and unconditional guarantee of payments of distributions and other amounts due on the trust preferred

(i)

securities. In addition, we do not expect that IM Capital Trust will file reports with the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act.

You should rely only on the information incorporated by reference or provided in this prospectus and any prospectus supplement. Neither we nor IM Capital Trust have authorized anyone else to provide you with different information. Neither we nor IM Capital Trust are making an offer of these securities in any jurisdiction where it is unlawful. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. You should not assume that the information in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of this prospectus.

References in this prospectus to the terms "Iron Mountain," "we," "our" or "us" or other similar terms mean Iron Mountain Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless we state otherwise or the context indicates otherwise. References in this prospectus to "IM Capital Trust" mean IM Capital Trust I.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We have made and incorporated by reference statements in this prospectus that constitute "forward-looking statements" as that term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other federal securities laws. These forward-looking statements concern our operations, economic performance, financial condition, goals, beliefs, future growth strategies, investment objectives, plans and current expectations. The forward-looking statements are subject to various known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors. When we use words such as "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "estimates" or similar expressions, we are making forward-looking statements.

Although we believe that our forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, our expected results may not be achieved and actual results may differ materially from our expectations. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ from expectations include, among others, those set forth below. Please read carefully the information under "Risk Factors" beginning on page 2:

changes in customer preferences and demand for our services;

changes in the price for our services relative to the cost of providing such services;

in the various digital businesses in which we are engaged, capital and technical requirements will be beyond our means, markets for our services will be less robust than anticipated, or competition will be more intense than anticipated;

the cost to comply with current and future legislation or regulation relating to privacy issues;

the impact of litigation that may arise in connection with incidents of inadvertent disclosures of customers' confidential information;

our ability or inability to complete acquisitions on satisfactory terms and to integrate acquired companies efficiently;

the cost and availability of financing for contemplated growth;

business partners upon whom we depend for technical assistance or management and acquisition expertise outside the U.S. will not perform as anticipated;

changes in the political and economic environments in the countries in which our international subsidiaries operate; and

other trends in competitive or economic conditions affecting our financial condition or results of operations not presently contemplated.

Other risks may adversely impact us, as described more fully under "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

(ii)

These cautionary statements should not be construed by you to be exhaustive and they are made only as of the date of this prospectus. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements except as statements of our present intentions and of our present expectations, which may or may not occur. You should read these cautionary statements as being applicable to all forward-looking statements wherever they appear. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to release publicly the result of any revision to these forward-looking statements that may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Readers are also urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures we have made or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, as well as our other periodic reports filed with the SEC.

(iii)

OUR COMPANY

We believe we are the global leader in information protection and storage services. We help organizations around the world reduce the costs and risks associated with information protection and storage. We offer comprehensive records management and data protection solutions, along with the expertise and experience to address complex information challenges such as rising storage costs, litigation, regulatory compliance and disaster recovery. We have a diversified customer base comprised of commercial, legal, banking, healthcare, accounting, insurance, entertainment and government organizations, including more than 90% of the Fortune 1000 and more than 85% of the FTSE 100.

As of December 31, 2006, we provided services to over 90,000 corporate clients in 85 markets in the U.S. and 86 markets outside of the U.S., employed over 18,600 people and operated over 900 records management facilities in the U.S., Canada, Europe, Latin America and Asia Pacific.

IM CAPITAL TRUST I

IM Capital Trust is a subsidiary of ours. IM Capital Trust was created under the Delaware Statutory Trust Act and is governed by a declaration of trust, as it may be amended and restated from time to time, among the trustees of IM Capital Trust and us.

When IM Capital Trust issues its trust preferred securities, the holders of the trust preferred securities will own all of the issued and outstanding trust preferred securities of IM Capital Trust. We will acquire all of the issued and outstanding trust common securities of IM Capital Trust, representing an undivided beneficial interest in the assets of IM Capital Trust of at least 3%.

IM Capital Trust will exist primarily for the purposes of:

issuing its trust preferred and trust common securities;

investing the proceeds from the sale of its trust preferred and trust common securities in our debt securities; and

engaging in other activities only as are necessary or incidental to issuing its securities and purchasing and holding our debt securities.

The debt securities IM Capital Trust purchases from us may be subordinated debt securities or senior debt securities, and may be fully and unconditionally guaranteed by substantially all of our present and future wholly owned domestic subsidiaries. We will specify the type of debt security in a prospectus supplement.

IM Capital Trust has three trustees. One of the trustees, referred to as the regular trustee, is an individual who is an officer and employee of Iron Mountain. Additional regular trustees may be appointed in the future. The second trustee is The Bank of New York, which serves as the property trustee under the declaration of trust for purposes of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. The third trustee is The Bank of New York (Delaware), which has its principal place of business in the State of Delaware, and serves as the Delaware trustee of IM Capital Trust.

The Bank of New York, acting in its capacity as guarantee trustee, will hold for the benefit of the holders of trust preferred securities a trust preferred securities guarantee, which will be separately qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable prospectus supplement, because we will own all of the trust common securities of IM Capital Trust, we will have the exclusive right to appoint, remove or replace trustees and to increase or decrease the number of trustees. In most cases, there will be at least three trustees. The term of IM Capital Trust will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement, but it may dissolve earlier, as provided in IM Capital Trust's declaration of trust, as it may be amended and restated from time to time.

The rights of the holders of the trust preferred securities of IM Capital Trust, including economic rights, rights to information and voting rights and the duties and obligations of the trustees of IM Capital Trust, will be contained in and governed by the declaration of trust of IM Capital Trust, as it may be amended and restated from time to time, the Delaware Statutory Trust Act and the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

RISK FACTORS

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. Before making an investment decision, in addition to the other information included in, or incorporated by reference into, this prospectus, including under "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, you should carefully consider the risk factors included in any applicable prospectus supplement or incorporated by reference into this prospectus when determining whether or not to purchase the securities offered under this prospectus and the prospectus supplement.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The following table sets forth our consolidated ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the periods indicated:

		Year En	nded Decemb	er 31,		Months Ended March 31,		
	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007		
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed	1.6x	1.8x	1.7x	1.8x	1.8x	1.8x		

The ratios of earnings to fixed charges presented above were computed by dividing our earnings by fixed charges. For this purpose, earnings have been calculated by adding fixed charges to income (loss) from continuing operations before provision for income taxes and minority interest. Fixed charges consist of interest costs, the interest component of rental expense and amortization of debt discounts and deferred financing costs, but do not include interest expense related to uncertain tax positions.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Unless otherwise described in a prospectus supplement, we intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of the offered securities for general corporate purposes, which may include acquisitions, investments and the repayment of indebtedness outstanding at a particular time. Pending this utilization, the proceeds from the sale of the offered securities will be invested in short-term, dividend-paying or interest-bearing investment grade securities.

IM Capital Trust will use all net proceeds from the sale of its trust preferred securities and its trust common securities to purchase our debt securities.

DESCRIPTION OF OUR DEBT SECURITIES

The debt securities will be direct obligations of ours, which may be secured or unsecured, and which may be senior or subordinated indebtedness. The debt securities may be fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a secured or unsecured, senior or subordinated basis, jointly and severally by substantially all of our direct and indirect wholly owned domestic subsidiaries. Our senior subordinated debt securities will be issued under the indenture dated December 30, 2002, or the Base Indenture, among Iron Mountain Incorporated, the guarantors and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as trustee, or the Trustee, as it may be amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time, or under one or more other indentures between us and a trustee. Our senior and our subordinated debt securities will be issued under one or more indentures between us and a trustee. Any indenture will be subject to, and governed by, the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. The statements made in this prospectus relating to any indentures and the debt securities to be issued under the indentures are summaries of certain anticipated provisions of the indentures and are not complete.

We have filed copies of the forms of indentures as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is part and will file any final indentures and supplemental indentures if we issue debt securities. You should refer to those indentures for the complete terms of the debt securities. See "Where You Can Find More Information." You may also review our Base Indenture at the Trustee's corporate trust office at 222 Berkeley Street, 2nd Floor, Boston, MA 02116. In addition, you should consult the applicable prospectus supplement for particular terms of our debt securities.

General

We may issue debt securities that rank "senior," "senior subordinated" or "subordinated." The debt securities that we refer to as "senior securities" will be direct obligations of ours and will rank equally and ratably in right of payment with other indebtedness of ours that is not subordinated. We may issue debt securities that will be subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full of senior indebtedness, as defined in the applicable prospectus supplement, and may rank equally and ratably with our outstanding senior subordinated indebtedness and any other senior subordinated indebtedness. We refer to these as "senior subordinated securities." We may also issue debt securities that may be subordinated in right of payment to the senior subordinated securities. These would be "subordinated securities." We have filed with the registration statement of which this prospectus is part three separate forms of indenture, one each for the senior securities, the senior subordinated securities and the subordinated securities.

We may issue the debt securities without limit as to aggregate principal amount, in one or more series, in each case as we establish in one or more supplemental indentures. We need not issue all debt securities of one series at the same time. Unless we otherwise provide, we may reopen a series, without the consent of the holders of such series, for issuances of additional securities of that series.

We anticipate that any indenture will provide that we may, but need not, designate more than one trustee under an indenture, each with respect to one or more series of debt securities. Any trustee under any indenture may resign or be removed with respect to one or more series of debt securities and we may appoint a successor trustee to act with respect to that series.

The applicable prospectus supplement will describe the specific terms relating to the series of debt securities we will offer, including, where applicable, the following:

the title and series designation and whether they are senior securities, senior subordinated securities or subordinated securities;

the aggregate principal amount of the securities;

3

the percentage of the principal amount at which we will issue the debt securities and, if other than the principal amount of the debt securities, the portion of the principal amount of the debt securities payable upon maturity of the debt securities;

if convertible, the initial conversion price, the conversion period and any other terms governing such conversion;

the stated maturity date;

any fixed or variable interest rate or rates per annum;

the place where principal, premium, if any, and interest will be payable and where the debt securities can be surrendered for transfer, exchange or conversion;

the date from which interest may accrue and any interest payment dates;

any sinking fund requirements;

any provisions for redemption, including the redemption price and any remarketing arrangements;

whether the securities are denominated or payable in U.S. dollars or a foreign currency or units of two or more foreign currencies;

the events of default and covenants of such securities, to the extent different from or in addition to those described in this prospectus;

whether we will issue the debt securities in certificated or book-entry form;

whether the debt securities will be in registered or bearer form and, if in registered form, the denominations if other than in even multiples of \$1,000 and, if in bearer form, the denominations and terms and conditions relating thereto;

whether we will issue any of the debt securities in permanent global form and, if so, the terms and conditions, if any, upon which interests in the global security may be exchanged, in whole or in part, for the individual debt securities represented by the global security;

the applicability, if any, of the defeasance and covenant defeasance provisions described in this prospectus or any prospectus supplement;

whether we will pay additional amounts on the securities in respect of any tax, assessment or governmental charge and, if so, whether we will have the option to redeem the debt securities instead of making this payment;

the subordination provisions, if any, relating to the debt securities;

if the debt securities are to be issued upon the exercise of debt warrants, the time, manner and place for them to be authenticated and delivered;

whether any of our subsidiaries will be bound by the terms of the indenture, in particular any restrictive covenants;

the provisions relating to any security provided for the debt securities; and

the provisions relating to any guarantee of the debt securities.

We may issue debt securities at less than the principal amount payable upon maturity. We refer to these securities as "original issue discount securities." We may also issue debt securities over par from time to time. If material or applicable, we will describe in the applicable prospectus supplement special U.S. federal income tax, accounting and other considerations applicable to original issue discount securities or debt securities issued over par.

Except as may be set forth in any prospectus supplement, an indenture will not contain any other provisions that would limit our ability to incur indebtedness or that would afford holders of the debt securities protection in the event of a highly leveraged or similar transaction involving us or in the event of a change of control. You should review carefully the applicable prospectus supplement for information with respect to events of default and covenants applicable to the securities being offered.

Denominations, Interest, Registration and Transfer

Unless otherwise described in the applicable prospectus supplement, we will issue the debt securities of any series that are registered securities in denominations that are even multiples of \$1,000, other than global securities, which may be of any denomination.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, we will pay the interest, principal and any premium at the corporate trust office of the trustee. At our option, however, we may make payment of interest by check mailed to the address of the person entitled to the payment as it appears in the applicable register or by wire transfer of funds to that person at an account maintained within the United States.

If we do not punctually pay or duly provide for interest on any interest payment date, the defaulted interest will be paid either:

to the person in whose name the debt security is registered at the close of business on a special record date we will fix; or

in any other lawful manner as the applicable indenture describes.

You may have your debt securities divided into more debt securities of smaller denominations or combined into fewer debt securities of larger denominations, as long as the total principal amount is not changed. We call this an "exchange."

You may exchange or transfer debt securities at the office of the applicable trustee. The trustee acts as our agent for registering debt securities in the names of holders and transferring debt securities. We may change this appointment to another entity or perform it ourselves. The entity performing the role of maintaining the list of registered holders is called the "registrar." It will also perform transfers.

You will not be required to pay a service charge to transfer or exchange debt securities, but you may be required to pay for any tax or other governmental charge associated with the exchange or transfer. The registrar will make the transfer or exchange only if it is satisfied with your proof of ownership.

Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets

Under any indenture, we are generally permitted to consolidate or merge with another company. We are also permitted to sell substantially all of our assets to another company. However, we may not take any of these actions unless all of the following conditions are met:

If we merge out of existence or sell our assets, the other company must be a corporation, partnership or other entity organized under the laws of a State or the District of Columbia or under federal law. The other company must agree to be legally responsible for the debt securities.

Immediately after the consolidation or merger or sale of assets we are not in default on the debt securities. A default for this purpose would include any event that would be an event of default without regard to notice obligations or the length of time of the default.

Certain Covenants

Provision of Financial Information. We will deliver to the trustee a copy of our annual report to stockholders, our reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K and any other reports that we are required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

Additional Covenants. Any additional or different covenants, or modifications to these covenants, with respect to any series of debt securities will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Events of Default and Related Matters

Events of Default. The term "event of default" means any of the following:

we do not pay the principal or any premium on a debt security on its due date;

we do not pay interest on a debt security within 30 days of its due date;

we do not deposit any sinking fund payment on its due date;

we fail to comply with any "change of control" covenant included in the applicable indenture;

we remain in breach of any other term of the applicable indenture for 60 days after we receive a notice of default stating we are in breach. Either the trustee or the holders of 25% in principal amount of debt securities of the affected series may send the notice:

we default in the payment of any of our other indebtedness over a specified amount that results in the acceleration of the maturity of the indebtedness or constitutes a default in the payment of the indebtedness at final maturity, but only if the indebtedness is not discharged or the acceleration is not rescinded or annulled;

we or one of our "significant subsidiaries" files for bankruptcy or certain other events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization occur; and

any other event of default, or modification of any of the foregoing events of default, described in the applicable prospectus supplement occurs.

The term "significant subsidiary" means each of our significant subsidiaries (as defined in Regulation S-X promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933).

Remedies If an Event of Default Occurs. If an event of default has occurred and has not been cured, the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the debt securities of the affected series may declare the entire principal amount of all the debt securities of that series to be due and immediately payable. We call this a "declaration of acceleration of maturity." If an event of default occurs because of certain events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization, the principal amount of all the debt securities of that series will be automatically accelerated, without any action by the trustee or any holder. At any time after the trustee or the holders have accelerated any series of debt securities, the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the debt securities of the affected series may, under certain circumstances, rescind and annul such acceleration.

The trustee will be required to give notice to the holders of debt securities within 90 days of a default of which the trustee has knowledge under the applicable indenture unless the default has been cured or waived. The trustee may withhold notice to the holders of any series of debt securities of any default with respect to that series, except a default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any debt security of that series, if specified responsible officers of the trustee in good faith determine that withholding the notice is in the interest of the holders.

Except in cases of default, where the trustee has some special duties, the trustee is not required to take any action under the applicable indenture at the request of any holders unless the holders offer

the trustee reasonable protection from expenses and liability. We refer to this as an "indemnity." If reasonable indemnity is provided, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding securities of the relevant series may direct the time, method and place of conducting any lawsuit or other formal legal action seeking any remedy available to the trustee. These majority holders may also direct the trustee in performing any other action under the applicable indenture, subject to certain limitations.

Before you bypass the trustee and bring your own lawsuit or other formal legal action or take other steps to enforce your rights or protect your interests relating to the debt securities, the following must occur:

you must give the trustee written notice that an event of default has occurred and remains uncured;

the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of all outstanding securities of the relevant series must make a written request that the trustee take action because of the default, and must offer indemnity satisfactory to the trustee against the costs, expenses and other liabilities of taking that action;

the trustee must have not taken action for 60 days after receipt of the above notice, request and offer of indemnity; and

the trustee does not receive direction contrary to the holders' written request, within 60 days following receipt of the holders' written request, from holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding securities of that series.

However, you are entitled at any time to bring a lawsuit for the payment of money due on your security after its due date.

Every year we will furnish to the trustee a written statement by certain of our officers certifying that to their knowledge we are in compliance with the applicable indenture and the debt securities, or else specifying any default.

Modification of an Indenture

There are three types of changes we can make to the indentures and the debt securities:

Changes Requiring Your Approval. First, there are changes we cannot make to your debt securities without your specific approval. The following is a list of those types of changes:

reduce the principal amount of debt securities whose holders must consent to an amendment, supplement or waiver;

reduce the principal of or change the fixed maturity of any security or change any of the redemption provisions in a manner adverse to you;

reduce the rate of or change the time for payment of interest on any debt security;

waive a default in the payment of principal of or premium, if any, or interest on any debt security (except a rescission of acceleration of such debt securities by the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding debt securities and a waiver of the payment default that resulted from such acceleration);

make any debt security payable in money other than that stated in such debt security;

make any change in the provisions of the indenture relating to waivers of past defaults or your right to receive payments of principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the debt securities;

except under certain circumstances described in the applicable prospectus supplement, waive a redemption payment with respect to any debt security;

if the debt securities are guaranteed, other than as described in the applicable prospectus supplement, release any guarantor from its obligations under its subsidiary guarantee, or change any subsidiary guarantee in any manner that would materially adversely affect you; or

make any change in the foregoing amendment and waiver provisions.

Changes Requiring a Majority Vote. The second type of change to an indenture and the debt securities is the kind that requires a vote in favor by holders of a majority of the principal amount of the particular series of debt securities affected. Most changes fall into this category, except for clarifying changes and certain other changes that would not materially adversely affect holders of the debt securities. We require the same vote to obtain a waiver of a past default. However, we cannot obtain a waiver of a payment default or any other aspect of an indenture or the debt securities listed under " Changes Requiring Your Approval" unless we obtain your individual consent to the waiver.

Changes Not Requiring Approval. The third type of change does not require any vote by holders of debt securities. This type is limited to clarifications and certain other changes that would not materially adversely affect holders of the debt securities.

Further Details Concerning Voting. Debt securities are not considered outstanding, and therefore not eligible to vote, if we have deposited or set aside in trust for you money for their payment or redemption or if we or one of our affiliates own them. Debt securities are also not eligible to vote if they have been fully defeased as described immediately below under "Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance Full Defeasance." For original issue discount securities, we will use the principal amount that would be due and payable on the voting date if the maturity of the debt securities were accelerated to that date because of a default.

Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance

Full Defeasance. We can, under particular circumstances, effect a full defeasance of your series of debt securities. By this we mean we can legally release ourselves from any payment or other obligations on the debt securities if we deliver certain certificates and opinions to the trustee and put in place the following arrangements to repay you:

We must deposit in trust for your benefit and the benefit of all other direct holders of the debt securities a combination of money and U.S. government or U.S. government agency notes or bonds that will generate enough cash to make interest, principal and any other payments on the debt securities on their various due dates. If the debt securities are denominated in a foreign currency, then we may deposit foreign government notes or bonds.

The current federal tax law must be changed or an Internal Revenue Service ruling must be issued permitting the above deposit without causing you to be taxed on the debt securities any differently than if we did not make the deposit and just repaid the debt securities ourselves. Under current federal tax law, the deposit and our legal release from the debt securities would be treated as though we took back your debt securities and gave you your share of the cash and notes or bonds deposited in trust. In that event, you could recognize gain or loss on the debt securities you give back to us.

We must deliver to the trustee a legal opinion confirming the tax law change described above.

No default shall be in effect on the date of deposit or, insofar as bankruptcy and insolvency defaults are concerned, at any time in the period ending on the 91st day after the date of

deposit (or greater period of time in which any such deposit of trust funds may remain subject to bankruptcy law insofar as those apply to the deposit by us).

The full defeasance must not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any material agreement or instrument (other than the applicable indenture) to which we are a party or by which we are bound.

We must deliver to the trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that after the 91st day following the deposit, the trust funds will not be subject to the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and various other opinions of counsel and officers' certificates.

If we did accomplish a full defeasance, you would have to rely solely on the trust deposit for repayment on the debt securities. You could not look to us for repayment in the unlikely event of any shortfall. The trust deposit would, however, most likely be protected from claims of our lenders and other creditors if we ever became bankrupt or insolvent. You would also be released from any subordination provisions.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following rights and obligations shall survive full defeasance:

your rights to receive payments from the trust when payments are due;

our obligations relating to registration and transfer of securities and lost or mutilated certificates;

our obligations to maintain a payment office and to hold moneys for payment in trust;

the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the trustee, and our obligations in connection therewith; and

the provisions of the indenture relating to defeasance.

Covenant Defeasance. Under current federal tax law, we can make the same type of deposit described above and be released from some of the restrictive covenants in the debt securities. This is called "covenant defeasance." In that event, you would lose the protection of those restrictive covenants but would gain the protection of having money and securities set aside in trust to repay the debt securities and you would be released from any subordination provisions. In order to achieve covenant defeasance, we must do certain things, including the following:

we must deposit in trust for your benefit and the benefit of all other direct holders of the debt securities a combination of money and U.S. government or U.S. government agency notes or bonds (or, in the case of debt securities denominated in a foreign currency, foreign government notes or bonds) that will generate enough cash to make interest, principal and any other payments on the debt securities on their various due dates;

we must deliver to the trustee a legal opinion confirming that under current federal tax law we may make the above deposit without causing you to be taxed on the debt securities any differently than if we did not make the deposit and just repaid the debt securities ourselves;

no default shall be in effect on the date of deposit or, insofar as bankruptcy and insolvency defaults are concerned, at any time in the period ending on the 91st day after the date of deposit (or greater period of time in which any such deposit of trust funds may remain subject to bankruptcy law insofar as those apply to the deposit by us);

the covenant defeasance must not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any material agreement or instrument (other than the applicable indenture) to which we are a party or by which we are bound; and

we must deliver to the trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that after the 91st day following the deposit, the trust funds will not be subject to the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and various other opinions of counsel and officers' certificates.

If we accomplish covenant defeasance, we will be released from certain covenants that we will describe in the applicable prospectus supplement. If we accomplish covenant defeasance, you can still look to us for repayment of the debt securities if a shortfall in the trust deposit occurred. If one of the remaining events of default occurs, for example, our bankruptcy, and the debt securities become immediately due and payable, there may be a shortfall. Depending on the event causing the default, you may not be able to obtain payment of the shortfall.

Subordination

We will set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement the terms and conditions, if any, upon which any series of senior subordinated securities or subordinated securities or subordinated securities of another series or to other indebtedness of ours. The terms will include a description of:

the indebtedness ranking senior to the debt securities being offered;

the restrictions, if any, on payments to the holders of the debt securities being offered while a default with respect to the senior indebtedness is continuing;

the restrictions, if any, on payments to the holders of the debt securities being offered following an event of default; and

provisions requiring holders of the debt securities being offered to remit some payments to holders of senior indebtedness.

Conversion Rights

The terms and conditions, if any, upon which the debt securities are convertible into shares of our common or preferred stock will be set forth in the prospectus supplement relating thereto. Such terms will include whether the debt securities are convertible into shares of our common or preferred stock, the conversion price (or manner of calculation thereof), the conversion period, provisions as to whether conversion will be at the option of the holders, the events requiring an adjustment of the conversion price and provisions affecting conversion in the event of the redemption of such debt securities and any restrictions on conversion.

Global Securities

If so set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, we may issue the debt securities of a series, in whole or in part, in the form of one or more global securities that will be deposited with a depositary identified in the prospectus supplement. We may issue global securities in either registered or bearer form and in either temporary or permanent form. The specific terms of the depositary arrangement with respect to any series of debt securities will be described in the prospectus supplement.

DESCRIPTION OF OUR CAPITAL STOCK

The description below summarizes the more important terms of our capital stock. We have previously filed with the SEC copies of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as amended. See "Where You Can Find More Information." You should refer to those documents for the complete terms of our capital stock. This summary is subject to and qualified by reference to the description of the particular terms of your securities described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

General

Our authorized capital stock consists of 400,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$.01 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$.01 per share.

Preferred Stock

We are authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$0.01 par value per share.

This section describes the general terms and provisions of our preferred stock that we may offer from time to time. The applicable prospectus supplement will describe the specific terms of the shares of preferred stock offered through that prospectus supplement. We will file a copy of the certificate of designations that contains the terms of each new series of preferred stock with the SEC each time we issue a new series of preferred stock, and these certificates of designations will be incorporated by reference into the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. Each certificate of designations will establish the number of shares included in a designated series and fix the designation, powers, privileges, preferences and rights of the shares of each series as well as any applicable qualifications, limitations or restrictions. A holder of our preferred stock should refer to the applicable certificate of designations, our certificate of incorporation and the applicable prospectus supplement for more specific information.

Our board of directors has been authorized, subject to limitations provided in our certificate of incorporation, to provide for the issuance of shares of our preferred stock in multiple series. No shares of our preferred stock are currently outstanding.

With respect to each series of our preferred stock, our board of directors has the authority to fix the following terms:

the number of shares within the series;

whether the shares are entitled to receive dividends and whether dividends are cumulative;

the rate of any dividends, any conditions upon which dividends are payable, and the dates of payment of dividends;

whether the shares are redeemable, the redemption price and the terms of redemption;

whether the shares are entitled to any rights if we are dissolved or our assets are distributed;

whether the shares are convertible or exchangeable, the price or rate of exchange, and the applicable terms and conditions;

any restrictions on issuance of shares in the same series or any other series; and

Holders of our preferred stock will not have preemptive rights with respect to shares of our preferred stock. In addition, rights with respect to shares of our preferred stock will be subordinate to the rights of our general creditors. If we receive the appropriate payment, shares of our preferred stock that we issue will be fully paid and nonassessable.

your voting rights for the shares you own.

As described under "Description of Our Depositary Shares," we may, at our option, elect to offer depositary shares evidenced by depositary receipts. If we elect to do this, each depositary receipt will represent a fractional interest in a share of the particular series of the preferred stock issued and deposited with a depositary. The applicable prospectus supplement will specify that fractional interest.

We currently plan to use The Bank of New York as the registrar and transfer agent of any series of our preferred stock.

Common Stock

Voting Rights. Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on each matter to be decided by our stockholders, subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock that may be outstanding from time to time. Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation, there are no cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. The affirmative vote of holders of a plurality of the votes properly cast in any election of directors may elect all of the directors standing for election.

Dividend Rights and Limitations. Holders of common stock will be entitled to receive ratably any dividends or distributions that our board of directors may declare from time to time out of funds legally available for this purpose.

Dividends and other distributions on common stock are also subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock that may be outstanding from time to time and to the restrictions in our credit agreement and indentures. See " Preferred Stock."

Liquidation Rights. In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, after payment or provision for payment of all of our debts and obligations and any preferential distributions to holders of shares of preferred stock, if any, the holders of the common stock will be entitled to share ratably in our remaining assets available for distribution.

Miscellaneous. All outstanding shares of common stock are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Our board of directors has the power to issue shares of authorized but unissued common stock without further stockholder action. The issuance of these unissued shares could have the effect of diluting the earnings per share and book value per share of currently outstanding shares of common stock. The holders of common stock have no preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights.

Reference is made to the applicable prospectus supplement relating to the common stock offered by that prospectus supplement for specific terms, including:

amount and number of shares offered;

the initial offering price, if any, and market price; and

information with respect to dividends.

Transfer Agent and Registrar. The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is The Bank of New York, 101 Barclay Street - 11 East, New York, New York 10286. Its telephone number is (800) 524-4458.

DESCRIPTION OF OUR DEPOSITARY SHARES

General

The description shown below, and in any applicable prospectus supplement, of certain provisions of any deposit agreement and of the depositary shares and depositary receipts representing depositary shares does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the forms of deposit agreement and depositary receipts relating to each applicable series of preferred stock. The deposit agreement and the depositary receipts contain the full legal text of the matters described in this section. We will file a copy of those documents with the SEC at or before the time of the offering of the applicable series of preferred stock. This summary also is subject to and qualified by

reference to the description of the particular terms of your series of depositary shares described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

We may, at our option, elect to offer depositary shares representing fractional interests in shares of preferred stock, rather than shares of preferred stock. If we exercise this option, we will appoint a depositary to issue depositary receipts representing those fractional interests. Preferred stock of each series represented by depositary shares will be deposited under a separate deposit agreement between us and the depositary. The prospectus supplement relating to a series of depositary shares will disclose the name and address of the depositary. Subject to the terms of the applicable deposit agreement, each holder of depositary shares will be entitled to all of the distribution, voting, conversion, redemption, liquidation and other rights and preferences of the preferred stock represented by those depositary shares.

Depositary receipts issued pursuant to the applicable deposit agreement will evidence ownership of depositary shares. Upon surrender of depositary receipts at the office of the depositary, and upon payment of the charges provided in and subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, a holder of depositary shares will be entitled to receive the shares of preferred stock underlying the surrendered depositary receipts.

Distributions

A depositary will be required to distribute all cash distributions received in respect of the applicable preferred stock to the record holders of depositary shares in proportion to the number of depositary shares held by the holders on the relevant record date, which will be the same as the record date fixed by us for the applicable series of preferred stock. Fractions will be rounded down to the nearest whole cent.

If the distribution is other than in cash, a depositary will be required to distribute property received by it to the record holders of depositary shares entitled thereto, in proportion, as nearly as practicable, to the number of depositary shares owned by those holders on the relevant record date, unless the depositary determines that it is not feasible to make the distribution. In that case, the depositary may, with our approval, sell the property and distribute the net proceeds from the sale to the holders.

Depositary shares that represent preferred stock converted or exchanged will not be entitled to distributions. The deposit agreement will also contain provisions relating to the manner in which any subscription or similar rights we offer to holders of the preferred stock will be made available to holders of depositary shares. All distributions will be subject to obligations of holders to file proofs, certificates and other information and to pay certain charges and expenses to the depositary.

Withdrawal of Preferred Stock

Holders of depositary shares may receive the number of whole shares of the applicable series of preferred stock and any money or other property represented by those depositary shares after surrendering the depositary receipts at the corporate trust office of the depositary and paying the charges provided in the depositary agreement. Partial shares of preferred stock will not be issued. If the depositary receipts that a holder surrenders evidence a number of depositary shares in excess of the number of depositary shares representing the number of whole shares of preferred stock the holder wishes to withdraw, then the depositary will deliver to the holder at the same time a new depositary receipt evidencing the excess number of depositary shares. Once a holder has withdrawn the holder's preferred stock, the holder will not be entitled to re-deposit those shares of preferred stock under the deposit agreement in order to receive depositary shares. We do not expect that there will be any public trading market for withdrawn shares of preferred stock.

Redemption of Depositary Shares

If we redeem a series of the preferred stock underlying the depositary shares, the depositary will redeem those depositary shares representing the preferred stock so redeemed from the proceeds received by it in connection with the redemption. The depositary will mail notice of redemption not less than 30 and not more than 60 days before the date fixed for redemption to the record holders of the depositary shares we are redeeming at their addresses appearing in the depositary's books. The redemption price per depositary share will be equal to the applicable fraction of the redemption price per share payable with respect to the series of the preferred stock. The redemption date for depositary shares will be the same as that of the preferred stock. If we are redeeming less than all of the depositary shares, the depositary will select the depositary shares we are redeeming by lot or pro rata as the depositary may determine.

After the date fixed for redemption, the depositary shares called for redemption will no longer be deemed outstanding. All rights of the holders of the depositary shares and the related depositary receipts will cease at that time, except the right to receive the money or other property to which the holders of depositary shares were entitled upon redemption. Receipt of the money or other property is subject to surrender to the depositary of the depositary receipts evidencing the redeemed depositary shares.

Voting of the Preferred Stock

Upon receipt of notice of any meeting at which the holders of preferred stock represented by depositary shares are entitled to vote, a depositary will be required to mail the information contained in the notice of meeting to the record holders of the applicable depositary shares. Each record holder of depositary shares on the record date, which will be the same date as the record date for the preferred stock, will be entitled to instruct the depositary as to the exercise of the voting rights pertaining to the amount of preferred stock represented by the holder's depositary shares. The depositary will try, as practical, to vote the depositary shares as instructed by the record holder of depositary shares. We will agree to take all reasonable action that the depositary deems necessary in order to enable it to do so. If a record holder of depositary shares does not instruct the depositary how to vote the holder's depositary shares, the depositary will abstain from voting those shares.

Liquidation Preference

Upon our liquidation, whether voluntary or involuntary, each holder of depositary shares will be entitled to the fraction of the liquidation preference accorded each share of preferred stock represented by the depositary shares, as shown in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Conversion or Exchange of Preferred Stock

The depositary shares will not themselves be convertible into or exchangeable for common stock, preferred stock or any of our other securities or property. Nevertheless, if so specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, the depositary receipts may be surrendered by holders to the applicable depositary with written instructions to it to instruct us to cause conversion of the preferred stock represented by the depositary shares. Similarly, if so specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, we may require holders of depositary shares to surrender all of their depositary receipts to the applicable depositary upon our requiring the conversion or exchange of the preferred stock represented by the depositary shares into a different class of our securities. We will agree that, upon receipt of the instruction and any amounts payable in connection with the conversion or exchange, we will cause the conversion or exchange using the same procedures as those provided for delivery of preferred stock to effect the conversion or exchange. If a holder of depositary shares is converting only a part of the

depositary shares, the depositary will issue the holder a new depositary receipt for any unconverted depositary shares.

Taxation

A holder of depositary shares will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as if it were a holder of the series of preferred stock represented by the depositary shares. Therefore, the holder of depositary shares will be required to take into account for U.S. federal income tax purposes income and deductions to which it would be entitled if it were a holder of the underlying series of preferred stock. In addition:

no gain or loss will be recognized for U.S. federal income tax purposes upon the withdrawal of preferred stock in exchange for depositary shares provided in the deposit agreement;

the tax basis of each share of preferred stock issued to a holder as exchanging owner of depositary shares will, upon exchange, be the same as the aggregate tax basis of the depositary shares exchanged for the preferred stock; and

if a holder held the depositary shares as a capital asset at the time of the exchange for preferred stock, the holding period for shares of the preferred stock will include the period during which the holder owned the depositary shares.

Amendment and Termination of a Deposit Agreement

We and the applicable depositary are permitted to amend the form of the depositary receipt and the provisions of the deposit agreement. However, the holders of at least a majority of the applicable depositary shares then outstanding must approve any amendment that adds or increases fees or materially and adversely alters the rights of holders. Every holder of an outstanding depositary receipt at the time any amendment becomes effective, by continuing to hold the receipt, will be bound by the applicable deposit agreement, as amended.

Any deposit agreement may be terminated by us upon not less than 30 days' prior written notice to the applicable depositary if a majority of each series of preferred stock affected by the termination consents to the termination. When that event occurs, the depositary will be required to deliver or make available to each holder of depositary shares, upon surrender of the depositary receipts held by the holder, the number of whole or fractional shares of preferred stock as are represented by the depositary shares evidenced by the depositary receipts, together with any other property held by the depositary with respect to the depositary shares. In addition, a deposit agreement will automatically terminate if:

all outstanding depositary shares have been redeemed;

there shall have been a final distribution in respect of the related preferred stock in connection with our liquidation and the distribution has been made to the holders of depositary receipts evidencing the depositary shares underlying the preferred stock; or

each of the shares of related preferred stock shall have been converted or exchanged into securities not represented by depositary shares.

Charges of a Depositary

We will pay all transfer and other taxes and governmental charges arising solely from the existence of a deposit agreement. In addition, we will pay the fees and expenses of a depositary in connection with the initial deposit of the preferred stock and any redemption of the preferred stock. However, holders of depositary shares will pay any transfer taxes or other governmental charges and the fees and

expenses of a depositary, including a fee for the withdrawal of shares of preferred stock upon surrender of depositary receipts, as are expressly provided in the deposit agreement to be for their accounts.

Resignation and Removal of Depositary

A depositary may resign at any time by delivering to us notice of its election to do so. In addition, we may at any time remove a depositary. Any resignation or removal will take effect when we appoint a successor depositary and it accepts the appointment. We must appoint a successor depositary within 60 days after delivery of the notice of resignation or removal. A depositary must be a bank or trust company having its principal office in the United States that has a combined capital and surplus of at least \$50 million.

Miscellaneous

A depositary will be required to forward to holders of depositary shares any reports and communications that it receives from us with respect to the related preferred stock. Holders of depository shares will be able to inspect the transfer books of the depository and the list of holders of depositary shares upon reasonable notice.

Neither we nor a depositary will be liable if either of us are prevented from, or delayed in performing, by law or any circumstances beyond our control, our obligations under a deposit agreement. Our obligations and those of the depositary under a deposit agreement will be limited to performing our duties in good faith and without gross negligence or willful misconduct. Neither we nor any depositary will be obligated to prosecute or defend any legal proceeding in respect of any depositary receipts, depositary shares or related preferred stock unless satisfactory indemnity is furnished. We and each depositary will be permitted to rely on written advice of counsel or accountants, on information provided by persons presenting preferred stock for deposit, by holders of depositary shares, or by other persons believed in good faith to be competent to give the information, and on documents believed in good faith to be genuine and signed by a proper party.

If a depositary receives conflicting claims, requests or instructions from any holders of depositary shares, on the one hand, and us, on the other hand, the depositary shall be entitled to act on the claims, requests or instructions received from us.

DESCRIPTION OF OUR WARRANTS

This section describes the general terms and provisions of our warrants to acquire our securities that we may issue from time to time. The applicable prospectus supplement will describe the specific terms of the warrants offered through that prospectus supplement.

We may issue, together with any other securities being offered or separately, warrants entitling the holder to purchase from or sell to us, or to receive from us the cash value of the right to purchase or sell, our debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares or common stock. We and a warrant agent will enter a warrant agreement pursuant to which the warrants will be issued. The warrant agent will act solely as our agent in connection with the warrants and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any holders or beneficial owners of warrants. We will file a copy of the warrants and the warrant agreement with the SEC at or before the time of the offering of the applicable series of warrants. A holder of our warrants should refer to the provisions of the applicable warrant agreement and prospectus supplement for more specific information.

In the case of each series of warrants, the applicable prospectus supplement will describe the terms of the warrants being offered thereby. These include the following, if applicable:

the offering price;

the number of warrants offered;
the securities underlying the warrants;
the exercise price, the amount of securities you will receive upon exercise, the procedure for exercise of the warrants and the circumstances, if any, that will cause the warrants to be automatically exercised;
the rights, if any, we have to redeem the warrants;
the date on which the warrants will expire;
U.S. federal income tax consequences;
the name of the warrant agent; and
any other terms of the warrants.

Warrants may be exercised at the appropriate office of the warrant agent or any other office indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement. Before the exercise of warrants, holders will not have any of the rights of holders of the securities purchasable upon exercise and will not be entitled to payments made to holders of those securities.

The warrant agreements may be amended or supplemented without the consent of the holders of the warrants to which it applies to effect changes that are not inconsistent with the provisions of the warrants and that do not materially and adversely affect the interests of the holders of the warrants. However, any amendment that materially and adversely alters the rights of the holders of warrants will not be effective unless the holders of at least a majority of the applicable warrants then outstanding approve the amendment. Every holder of an outstanding warrant at the time any amendment becomes effective, by continuing to hold the warrant, will be bound by the applicable warrant agreement as amended. The prospectus supplement applicable to a particular series of warrants may provide that certain provisions of the warrants, including the securities for which they may be exercisable, the exercise price and the expiration date, may not be altered without the consent of the holder of each warrant.

DESCRIPTION OF THE STOCK PURCHASE CONTRACTS AND THE STOCK PURCHASE UNITS

We may issue contracts obligating holders to purchase from us, and us to sell to the holders, a specified number of shares of common stock at a future date or dates, which we refer to herein as "stock purchase contracts." The price per share of common stock and the number of shares of common stock may be fixed at the time the stock purchase contracts are issued or may be determined by reference to a specific formula set forth in the stock purchase contracts. The stock purchase contracts may be issued separately or as part of units consisting of a stock purchase contract and debt securities, trust preferred securities or debt obligations of third parties, including U.S. treasury securities, which secure the holders' obligations to purchase the common stock under the stock purchase contracts. We refer to these units herein as "stock purchase units." The stock purchase contracts may require holders to secure their obligations thereunder in a specified manner. The stock purchase contracts also may require us to make periodic payments to the holders of the stock purchase units or vice versa, and such payments may be unsecured or refunded on some basis.

The applicable prospectus supplement will describe the terms of the stock purchase contracts or stock purchase units. The description in the applicable prospectus supplement will not necessarily be complete, and reference will be made to the stock purchase contracts, and, if applicable, collateral or depositary arrangements, relating to the stock purchase contracts or stock purchase units. Material U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to the stock purchase units and the stock purchase contracts will also be discussed in the applicable prospectus supplement.

DESCRIPTION OF THE TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES

If and when IM Capital Trust issues trust preferred securities, its declaration of trust will be replaced by an amended and restated declaration of trust which will authorize its trustees to issue one series of trust preferred securities and one series of trust common securities. The form of amended and restated declaration of trust is filed with the SEC as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

The terms of the trust preferred securities will include those stated in IM Capital Trust's declaration of trust, as it may be amended and restated from time to time, and those made a part of that declaration by the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. This section describes the general terms and provisions of IM Capital Trust's amended and restated declaration of trust and the trust securities IM Capital Trust may offer from time to time. The applicable prospectus supplement will describe the specific terms of the amended and restated declaration of trust and the trust preferred securities offered through that prospectus supplement. Any final amended and restated declaration of trust will be filed with the SEC if IM Capital Trust issues trust preferred securities. A holder of trust preferred securities should read the applicable prospectus supplement and the amended and restated declaration of trust for more specific information.

The prospectus supplement relating to the trust preferred securities being offered will include specific terms relating to the offering. These terms will include some or all of the following:

the designation of the trust preferred securities;

the number of trust preferred securities to be issued;

the annual distribution rate and any conditions upon which distributions are payable, the distribution payment dates, the record dates for distribution payments and the additional amounts, if any, that may be payable with respect to the trust preferred securities;

whether distributions will be cumulative and compounding and, if so, the dates from which distributions will be cumulative or compounded;

the amounts that will be paid out of the assets of IM Capital Trust, after the satisfaction of liabilities to creditors of IM Capital Trust, to the holders of trust preferred securities upon dissolution, winding up or termination of IM Capital Trust;

any repurchase, redemption or exchange provisions;

any preference or subordination rights upon a default or liquidation of IM Capital Trust;

any voting rights of the trust preferred securities in addition to those required by law, including the number of votes per trust preferred security and any requirement for the approval by the holders of trust preferred securities, as a condition to a specified action or amendments to the declaration of trust;

terms for any conversion or exchange of the related series of our debt securities or the trust preferred securities into other securities;

any rights to defer distributions on the trust preferred securities by extending the interest payment period on the related series of our debt securities;

any terms and conditions upon which the related series of our debt securities may be distributed to holders of trust preferred securities; and

any other relevant terms, rights, preferences, privileges, limitations or restrictions of the trust preferred securities.

18

The regular trustee, on behalf of IM Capital Trust and pursuant to the declaration of trust, will issue one class of trust preferred securities and one class of trust common securities. The trust preferred and trust common securities will represent undivided beneficial ownership interests in the assets of IM Capital Trust. Except as described in the applicable prospectus supplement, the trust preferred securities will rank equally, and payments will be made thereon proportionately, with the trust common securities. The trust preferred securities will be issued to the public under the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. The trust common securities will be issued directly or indirectly to us.

The only source of cash to make payments on the trust preferred securities issuable by IM Capital Trust will be payments on debt securities IM Capital Trust purchases from us. The property trustee of IM Capital Trust will hold legal title to the debt securities IM Capital Trust purchases in trust for the benefit of the holders of its trust preferred securities. If IM Capital Trust is dissolved, after satisfaction of IM Capital Trust's creditors, the property trustee may distribute the debt securities held in trust on a proportionate basis to the holders of trust preferred and trust common securities.

We will execute a guarantee agreement for the benefit of the holders of the trust preferred securities. The terms of our guarantee will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement and are summarized under the caption "Description of the Trust Preferred Securities Guarantee" included elsewhere in this prospectus. As discussed below, the guarantee will not guarantee the payment of distributions, or any amounts payable on redemption or liquidation of the trust preferred securities when IM Capital Trust does not have funds available to make these payments.

In the applicable prospectus supplement we will also describe certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences and special considerations applicable to the trust preferred securities.

DESCRIPTION OF THE TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES GUARANTEE

If and when IM Capital Trust issues trust preferred securities, we will fully and unconditionally guarantee payments on the trust preferred securities as described in this section, any applicable prospectus supplement and the guarantee executed by us in connection with the issuance of the trust preferred securities. The Bank of New York, as guarantee trustee, will hold the guarantee for the benefit of the holders of trust preferred securities.

This section describes the general terms and provisions of our trust preferred securities guarantee. The applicable prospectus supplement will describe the specific terms of the trust preferred securities guarantee. The form of trust guarantee is filed with the SEC as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. We will file with the SEC a final guarantee if IM Capital Trust issues trust preferred securities. A holder of trust preferred securities should refer to the applicable prospectus supplement and to the full text of our guarantee, and those terms made a part of the guarantee by the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, for more specific information.

We will irrevocably and unconditionally agree to pay in full to holders of trust preferred securities the following amounts to the extent not paid by IM Capital Trust:

any accumulated and unpaid distributions and any additional amounts with respect to the trust preferred securities and any redemption price for trust preferred securities called for redemption by IM Capital Trust, if and to the extent that we have made corresponding payments on the debt securities to the property trustee of IM Capital Trust; and

payments upon the dissolution of IM Capital Trust equal to the lesser of:

(1)
the liquidation amount plus all accumulated and unpaid distributions and additional amounts on the trust preferred securities to the extent IM Capital Trust has funds legally available for those payments; and

(2) the amount of assets of IM Capital Trust remaining legally available for distribution to the holders of trust preferred securities in liquidation of IM Capital Trust.

We will not be required to make these liquidation payments if:

IM Capital Trust distributes the debt securities to the holders of trust preferred securities in exchange for their trust preferred securities; or

IM Capital Trust redeems the trust preferred securities in full upon the maturity or redemption of the debt securities.

We may satisfy our obligation to make a guarantee payment either by making payment directly to the holders of trust preferred securities or to the guarantee trustee for remittance to the holders or by causing IM Capital Trust to make the payment to them.

The guarantee is a guarantee from the time of issuance of the applicable series of trust preferred securities. THE GUARANTEE ONLY COVERS, HOWEVER, DISTRIBUTIONS AND OTHER PAYMENTS ON TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES IF AND TO THE EXTENT THAT WE HAVE MADE CORRESPONDING PAYMENTS ON THE DEBT SECURITIES TO THE APPLICABLE PROPERTY TRUSTEE. IF WE DO NOT MAKE THOSE CORRESPONDING PAYMENTS ON THE DEBT SECURITIES, IM CAPITAL TRUST WILL NOT HAVE FUNDS AVAILABLE FOR PAYMENTS AND WE WILL HAVE NO OBLIGATION TO MAKE A GUARANTEE PAYMENT.

The obligations under the debt securities, the associated indenture, IM Capital Trust's declaration of trust and our related guarantee, taken together, will provide a full and unconditional guarantee of payments of distributions and other amounts due on the trust preferred securities.

Iron Mountain Covenants

In the guarantee, we will agree that, as long as any trust preferred securities issued by IM Capital Trust are outstanding, we will not make the payments and distributions described below if:

we are in default on our guarantee payments or other payment obligations under the related guarantee;

any trust enforcement event under IM Capital Trust's declaration of trust has occurred and is continuing; or

we elect to defer payments of interest on the related debt securities by extending the interest payment period, and that deferral period is continuing.

In these circumstances, we will agree that we will not:

declare or pay any dividends or distributions on, or redeem, purchase, acquire, or make a liquidation payment with respect to, any of our capital stock; or

make any payment of principal, interest or premium, if any, on or repay, repurchase or redeem any debt securities that rank equally with, or junior in interest to, the debt securities we issue to IM Capital Trust or make any guarantee payments with respect to any guarantee by us of the debt of any of our subsidiaries if that guarantee ranks equally with or junior in interest to the debt securities we issue to IM Capital Trust.

However, even during these circumstances, we may:

purchase or acquire our capital stock in connection with the satisfaction of our obligations under any employee benefit plans or pursuant to any contract or security outstanding on the first day of any extension period requiring us to purchase our capital stock (other than a contract or security ranking expressly by its terms on a parity with or junior to the debt securities);

reclassify our capital stock or exchange or convert one class or series of our capital stock for another class or series of our capital stock;

purchase fractional interests in shares of our capital stock pursuant to the conversion or exchange provisions of our capital stock or the security being converted or exchanged;

declare dividends or distributions in our capital stock where the dividend stock is the same stock as that on which the dividend is being paid;

redeem, repurchase or issue any rights pursuant to a rights agreement; and

make payments under the guarantee related to the trust preferred securities.

In addition, as long as trust preferred securities issued by IM Capital Trust are outstanding, we will agree that we will:

remain the sole direct or indirect owner of all the outstanding trust common securities of IM Capital Trust, except as permitted by its declaration of trust;

permit the trust common securities of IM Capital Trust to be transferred only as permitted by its declaration of trust; and

use reasonable efforts to cause IM Capital Trust to continue to be treated as a grantor trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except in connection with a distribution of debt securities to the holders of trust preferred securities as provided in its declaration of trust, in which case IM Capital Trust would be dissolved.

Amendments and Assignment

We and the guarantee trustee may amend the guarantee without the consent of any holder of trust preferred securities if the amendment does not adversely affect the rights of the holders in any material respect. In all other cases, we and the guarantee trustee may amend the guarantee only with the prior approval of the holders of at least a majority of outstanding trust preferred securities issued by IM Capital Trust.

We may assign our obligations under the guarantee only in connection with a consolidation, merger or asset sale involving us that is permitted under the indenture governing the debt securities.

Termination of the Guarantee

Our guarantee will terminate upon:

full payment of the redemption price of all trust preferred securities of IM Capital Trust;

distribution of the related debt securities, or any securities into which those debt securities are convertible, to the holders of the trust preferred and trust common securities of IM Capital Trust in exchange for all the securities issued by IM Capital Trust; or

full payment of the amounts payable upon liquidation of IM Capital Trust.

The guarantee will, however, continue to be effective, or will be reinstated, if any holder of trust preferred securities must repay any amounts paid on those trust preferred securities or under the guarantee.

Status of the Guarantee

We will specify in the applicable prospectus supplement the ranking of the guarantee with respect to our capital stock and other liabilities, including other guarantees.

The guarantee will be deposited with the guarantee trustee to be held for the benefit of the holders of the trust preferred securities. The guarantee trustee will have the right to enforce the

guarantee on the holders' behalf. In most cases, the holders of a majority of outstanding trust preferred securities issued by IM Capital Trust will have the right to direct the time, method and place of:

conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the applicable guarantee trustee; or

exercising any trust or other power conferred upon that guarantee trustee under the guarantee.

The guarantee will constitute a guarantee of payment and not merely of collection. This means that the guarantee trustee may institute a legal proceeding directly against us to enforce the payment rights under the guarantee, without first instituting a legal proceeding against IM Capital Trust or any other person or entity.

If the guarantee trustee fails to enforce the guarantee or we fail to make a guarantee payment, a holder of the trust preferred securities may institute a legal proceeding directly against us to enforce the holder's rights under that guarantee without first instituting a legal proceeding against IM Capital Trust, the guarantee trustee or any other person or entity.

Periodic Reports Under Guarantee

We will be required to provide annually to the guarantee trustee a statement as to our performance of our obligations and our compliance with all conditions under the guarantee.

Duties of Guarantee Trustee

The guarantee trustee normally will perform only those duties specifically set forth in the guarantee. The guarantee will not contain any implied covenants. If a default occurs on the guarantee, the guarantee trustee will be required to use the same degree of care and skill in the exercise of its powers under the guarantee as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs. The guarantee trustee will exercise any of its rights or powers under the guarantee at the request or direction of holders of the trust preferred securities only if the guarantee trustee is offered security and indemnity satisfactory to it.

RELATIONSHIP AMONG THE DEBT SECURITIES, THE TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES AND THE TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES GUARANTEE

To the extent set forth in the guarantee and to the extent funds are available, we will irrevocably guarantee the payment of distributions and other amounts due on the trust preferred securities. If and to the extent we do not make payments on the debt securities to the property trustee, IM Capital Trust will not have sufficient funds to pay distributions or other amounts due on the trust preferred securities. The guarantee does not cover any payment of distributions or other amounts due on the trust preferred securities unless IM Capital Trust has sufficient funds for the payment of such distributions or other amounts. In such event, a holder of trust preferred securities may institute a legal proceeding directly against us to enforce payment of such distributions or other amounts to such holder after the respective due dates. Taken together, our obligations under the debt securities, the associated indenture, IM Capital Trust's declaration of trust and our related guarantee will provide a full and unconditional guarantee of payments of distributions and other amounts due on the trust preferred securities. No single document standing alone or operating in conjunction with fewer than all of the other documents constitutes such guarantee. It is only the combined operation of these documents that provides a full and unconditional guarantee of IM Capital Trust's payment obligations under the trust preferred securities.

Sufficiency of Payments

As long as payments of interest and other amounts are made when due on the debt securities, such payments will be sufficient to cover distributions and payments due on the trust preferred securities because of the following factors:

the aggregate principal amount of the debt securities will be equal to the sum of the aggregate stated liquidation amount of the trust preferred securities;

the interest rate and the interest and other payment dates on the debt securities will match the distribution rate and distribution and other payment dates for the trust preferred securities;

we, as issuer of the debt securities, will pay, and IM Capital Trust will not be obligated to pay, directly or indirectly, any costs, expenses, debts and obligations of IM Capital Trust, other than with respect to the trust preferred securities; and

the declaration of trust will further provide that IM Capital Trust will not engage in any activity that is not consistent with the limited purposes of IM Capital Trust.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the indenture, we have the right to set off any payment we are otherwise required to make thereunder against and to the extent we have already made, or are concurrently on the date of such payment making, a related payment under the guarantee.

Enforcement Rights of Holders of Preferred Securities

The declaration of trust provides that if we fail to make interest or other payments on the debt securities when due, taking account of any extension period, the holders of the trust preferred securities may direct the property trustee to enforce its rights under the applicable indenture. If the property trustee fails to enforce its rights under the indenture in respect of an event of default under the indenture, any holder of record of trust preferred securities may, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, institute a legal proceeding against us to enforce the property trustee's rights under the indenture without first instituting any legal proceeding against IM Capital Trust, the property trustee or any other person or entity. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a trust enforcement event has occurred and is continuing and such event is attributable to our failure to pay interest, premium or principal on the debt securities on the date such interest, premium or principal is otherwise payable, then a holder of trust preferred securities may institute a direct action against us for payment of such holder's pro rata share.

If we fail to make payments under the guarantee, a holder of trust preferred securities may institute a proceeding directly against us for enforcement of the guarantee for such payments.

Limited Purpose of Trust

The trust preferred securities evidence undivided beneficial ownership interests in the assets of IM Capital Trust, and IM Capital Trust exists for the sole purpose of issuing and selling the trust preferred and trust common securities and using the proceeds to purchase our debt securities. A principal difference between the rights of a holder of trust preferred securities and a holder of our debt securities is that a holder of our debt securities is entitled to receive from us the principal amount of, and interest accrued on, the debt securities held, while a holder of trust preferred securities is entitled to receive distributions and other payments from IM Capital Trust, or from us under the guarantee, only if, and to the extent, IM Capital Trust has funds available for the payment of such distributions and other payments.

Rights Upon Dissolution

Upon any voluntary or involuntary dissolution of IM Capital Trust involving the redemption or repayment of the debt securities, the holders of the trust preferred securities will be entitled to receive,

out of assets held by IM Capital Trust, subject to the rights of creditors of IM Capital Trust, if any, the liquidation distribution in cash. Because we are the guaranter under the guarantee and, as issuer of the debt securities, we have agreed to pay for all costs, expenses and liabilities of IM Capital Trust other than IM Capital Trust's obligations to the holders of the trust preferred securities, the positions of a holder of trust preferred securities and a holder of debt securities relative to other creditors and to our stockholders in the event of liquidation or bankruptcy of us would be substantially the same.

DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF DELAWARE LAW AND OUR CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS

We are organized as a Delaware corporation. The following is a summary of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and certain provisions of Delaware law. Because it is a summary, it does not contain all the information that may be important to you. If you want more information, you should read our entire certificate of incorporation and bylaws, copies of which we have previously filed with the SEC, see "Where You Can Find More Information," or refer to the provisions of Delaware law.

Delaware law, our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws contain some provisions that could delay or make more difficult the acquisition of us by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise. These provisions, as described below, are expected to discourage certain types of coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids and to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us first to negotiate with us. We believe that the benefits of increased protection of our ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure us outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging such proposals because, among other things, negotiations with respect to such proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Section 203 of The Delaware General Corporation Law

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, prohibits a defined set of transactions between a Delaware corporation, such as us, and an "interested stockholder." An interested stockholder is defined as a person who, together with any affiliates or associates of such person, beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 15% or more of the outstanding voting shares of a Delaware corporation. This provision may prohibit business combinations between an interested stockholder and a corporation for a period of three years after the date the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. The term "business combination" is broadly defined to include mergers, consolidations, sales or other dispositions of assets having a total value in excess of 10% of the consolidated assets of the corporation, and some other transactions that would increase the interested stockholder's proportionate share ownership in the corporation.

This prohibition is effective unless:

either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the interested stockholder becoming an interested stockholder is approved by our board of directors prior to the time the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder;

the interested stockholder owns at least 85% of our voting stock, other than stock held by directors who are also officers or by qualified employee stock plans, upon consummation of the transaction in which it becomes an interested stockholder; or

the business combination is approved by a majority of our board of directors and by the affirmative vote of $66^2/3\%$ of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

In general, the prohibitions do not apply to business combinations with persons who were interested stockholders prior to the corporation becoming subject to Section 203.

Other Provisions of Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Our bylaws provide that a vacancy on the board of directors, including a vacancy created by an increase in the size of the board of directors by the directors, may be filled by a majority of the remaining directors, or by a sole remaining director, or by the stockholders, and each person so elected shall be a director to serve for the balance of the unexpired term of the directors. Under the DGCL, any director or the entire board of directors may be removed, with or without cause, by the holders of a majority of the shares then entitled to vote at the election of directors.

Certain other provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could have the effect of preventing or delaying any change in control of us, including:

the advance notification procedures imposed on stockholders for stockholder nominations of candidates for the board of directors and for other stockholder business to be conducted at annual or special meetings;

the absence of authority for stockholders to call special stockholder meetings; and

the absence of authority for stockholder action by unanimous or partial written consent in lieu of an annual or special meeting.

These provisions and statutory anti-takeover provisions, could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or discourage a third party from seeking to acquire, control of us.

Limitation of Directors' Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The DGCL permits a corporation to include a provision in its certificate of incorporation eliminating or limiting the personal liability of a director to a corporation or its stockholders for damages for certain breaches of the director's fiduciary duty. This provision may not eliminate or limit the liability of a director for:

breaches of the director's duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders;

acts or omissions not in good faith or involving intentional misconduct or knowing violations of law;

the payment of unlawful dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions; or

transactions from which the director received an improper personal benefit.

Our certificate of incorporation eliminates the liability of directors to the fullest extent permissible under Delaware law. These provisions offer persons who serve on the board of directors protection against awards of monetary damages for negligence in the performance of their duties.

Our bylaws also provide that directors or officers made a party to, or threatened to be made a party to, or otherwise involved in, any proceeding, because he or she is or was a representative of us or is or was serving as a representative of another corporation or any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, on our behalf, shall be indemnified and held harmless by us to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law against all expenses, liabilities and losses reasonably incurred by or imposed upon him or her, in connection with any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding. Indemnification is only available if such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to our best interests, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful.

Pursuant to our bylaws, amending the provisions to reduce the limitation of director's liability or limit the right to indemnification requires unanimous vote of the directors or a majority vote of the stockholders.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We and IM Capital Trust may sell the offered securities to one or more underwriters for public offering and sale by them. We and IM Capital Trust may also sell the offered securities to investors directly or through agents. We will name any underwriter or agent involved in the offer and sale of the offered securities in the applicable prospectus supplement.

The distribution of offered securities may be effected from time to time in one or more transactions at:

a fixed price or varying prices;
market prices prevailing at the time of sale;
prices related to the market prices; or
negotiated prices.

Underwriters, dealers and agents participating in the distribution of the securities may be deemed to be underwriters, and any discounts and commissions received by them and any profit realized by them on resale of the securities may be deemed to be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act of 1933. Underwriters, dealers and agents may be entitled, under agreements with us and/or IM Capital Trust, to indemnification against and contribution toward certain civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, and to reimbursement by us and/or IM Capital Trust for certain expenses.

If an underwriter or underwriters are used in the offer or sale of securities, we and/or IM Capital Trust will execute an underwriting agreement with the underwriters at the time of sale of the securities to the underwriters, and the names of the underwriters and the principal terms of our and/or IM Capital Trust's agreements with the underwriters will be provided in the applicable prospectus supplement.

If we so indicate in the prospectus supplement, we and IM Capital Trust may authorize agents, underwriters or dealers to solicit offers from certain types of institutions to purchase securities from us or IM Capital Trust at the public offering price under delayed delivery contracts. These contracts would provide for payment and delivery on a specified date in the future. The contracts would be subject only to those conditions described in the prospectus supplement. The prospectus supplement will describe the commission payable for solicitation of those contracts.

We may enter into derivative or other hedging transactions with financial institutions. These financial institutions may in turn engage in sales of our securities to hedge their position, deliver this prospectus in connection with some or all of those sales and use the shares covered by this prospectus to close out any short position created in connection with those sales. We may also sell shares of our securities short using this prospectus and deliver our securities covered by this prospectus to close out such short positions, or loan or pledge our securities to financial institutions that in turn may sell the shares of our securities using this prospectus. We may pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of our securities covered by this prospectus to support a derivative or hedging position or other obligation and, if we default in the performance of our obligations, the pledgees or secured parties may offer and sell our securities from time to time pursuant to this prospectus.

Unless otherwise specified in the related prospectus supplement, each series of offered securities, other than shares of common stock, will be a new issue with no established trading market. Any shares of common stock sold pursuant to a prospectus supplement will be listed on the New York Stock Exchange, subject to official notice of issuance. We and IM Capital Trust may elect to list any other series or class of offered securities on an exchange, but are not obligated to do so. Any underwriters to whom offered securities are sold by us for public offering and sale may make a market in those offered

securities. Underwriters will not be obligated to make any market, however, and may discontinue any market making at any time without notice. No assurance can be given as to the liquidity of, or the trading markets for, any offered securities.

Certain of the underwriters and their affiliates may engage in transactions with and perform services for us in the ordinary course of business for which they receive compensation.

The specific terms and manner of sale of the offered securities will be shown or summarized in the applicable prospectus supplement.

VALIDITY OF THE OFFERED SECURITIES

Sullivan & Worcester LLP, Boston, Massachusetts, will pass upon the validity of the debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares, common stock, warrants, guarantees, stock purchase contracts and stock purchase units.

Gesmer Updegrove LLP, Boston Massachusetts, will pass upon the validity of the guarantees with respect to matters of Connecticut law.

The validity of the trust preferred securities to be issued by IM Capital Trust, and the enforceability of its declaration of trust and the creation of IM Capital Trust, will be passed upon by Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A., Wilmington, Delaware.

EXPERTS

The financial statements as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 incorporated in this prospectus from Iron Mountain's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 10, 2007 and management's report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting incorporated in this prospectus from Iron Mountain's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their reports which are incorporated herein by reference (which reports (1) express an unqualified opinion on the financial statements and include an explanatory paragraph related to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), *Share-Based Payment*, (2) express an unqualified opinion on management's assessment regarding the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and (3) express an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting) and have been so incorporated in reliance upon the reports of such firm given their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are subject to the periodic reporting and other information requirements of the Exchange Act. We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports, statements or other information on file at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can request copies of those documents upon payment of a duplicating fee to the SEC. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference rooms. You can review our SEC filings and the registration statement by accessing the SEC's Internet site at http://www.sec.gov. Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange where reports, proxy statements and other information concerning us can also be inspected. The offices of the NYSE are located at 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus. Statements in this prospectus regarding the contents of any contract or other document may not be complete. You should refer to the copy of the contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the registration statement. Later information filed with the SEC will update and supersede information we have included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

We incorporate by reference the following documents filed by us:

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 (except for Item 15 which is incorporated by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 10, 2007).

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2007, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2007.

Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 9, 2007, January 12, 2007, January 24, 2007, February 13, 2007, March 5, 2007, March 6, 2007 (Item 5.02 only), March 8, 2007, March 12, 2007, March 23, 2007, April, 20, 2007, May 10, 2007 and July 16, 2007.

The description of our common stock contained in the Registration Statement on Form 8-A dated May 27, 1997, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Form 8-A on June 3, 2005, and including all further amendments and reports filed for the purpose of updating such description.

In addition to the documents listed above, we incorporate by reference any future filings made by us with the SEC under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act until our offering of the securities made by this prospectus is completed or terminated.

We will provide you with a copy of the information we have incorporated by reference, excluding exhibits other than those to which we specifically refer. You may obtain this information at no cost by writing or telephoning us at: 745 Atlantic Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts 02111, (617) 535-4799, Attention: Investor Relations.

PROSPECTUS

Iron Mountain Incorporated

Direct Stock Purchase Plan

This prospectus relates to our Direct Stock Purchase Plan. The plan is designed to provide investors with a convenient and economical way to purchase shares of our common stock. Under the plan, participants may:

Purchase their first shares of our common stock by making an initial cash investment of at least \$1,000 and up to \$10,000.

Purchase additional shares of our common stock by making optional cash investments at any time of at least \$500 per payment and up to a maximum of \$10,000 per month.

Make optional cash investments in excess of \$10,000 per month, but only after submission of a written request for waiver has been made to us and after we have given our written approval, which we may grant or refuse to grant in our sole discretion.

On investments in excess of \$10,000 that we approve, purchase newly issued shares of our common stock at a discount of up to 5%, as we may determine from time to time in our sole discretion.

Elect to automatically reinvest cash dividends, if any, that we pay in the future on all or a portion of their shares of common stock.

Please read this prospectus in its entirety for a more detailed description of our Direct Stock Purchase Plan and its features.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "IRM."

Investing in our securities involves risks. See "Risk Factors" on page 3.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Our principal executive office is 745 Atlantic Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts 02111 and our telephone number is (617) 535-4766.

The date of this prospectus is July 18, 2007.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	2
Our Company	3
Risk Factors	3
Description of Our Direct Stock Purchase Plan	4
Use of Proceeds	22
Plan of Distribution	22
Sales of Shares by Participants	23
Description of Our Capital Stock	23
Description of Certain Provisions of Delaware Law and Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws	25
Validity of the Offered Securities	26
Experts	27
Where You Can Find More Information	27
Documents Incorporated By Reference	27

You should rely only on the information incorporated by reference or provided in this prospectus and any prospectus supplement. We have not authorized anyone else to provide you with different information. We are not making an offer of these securities in any jurisdiction where it is unlawful. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. You should not assume that the information in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of this prospectus.

References in this prospectus to the terms "Iron Mountain," "we," "our" or "us" or other similar terms mean Iron Mountain Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless we state otherwise or the context indicates otherwise.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We have made and incorporated by reference statements in this prospectus that constitute "forward-looking statements" as that term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other federal securities laws. These forward-looking statements concern our operations, economic performance, financial condition, goals, beliefs, future growth strategies, investment objectives, plans and current expectations. The forward-looking statements are subject to various known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors. When we use words such as "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "estimates" or similar expressions, we are making forward-looking statements.

Although we believe that our forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, our expected results may not be achieved and actual results may differ materially from our expectations. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ from expectations include, among others, those set forth below. Please read carefully the information under "Risk Factors" beginning on page 3:

changes in customer preferences and demand for our services;

changes in the price for our services relative to the cost of providing such services;

in the various digital businesses in which we are engaged, capital and technical requirements will be beyond our means, markets for our services will be less robust than anticipated, or competition will be more intense than anticipated;

the cost to comply with current and future legislation or regulation relating to privacy issues;

the impact of litigation that may arise in connection with incidents of inadvertent disclosures of customers' confidential information:

our ability or inability to complete acquisitions on satisfactory terms and to integrate acquired companies efficiently;

the cost and availability of financing for contemplated growth;

business partners upon whom we depend for technical assistance or management and acquisition expertise outside the U.S. will not perform as anticipated;

changes in the political and economic environments in the countries in which our international subsidiaries operate; and

other trends in competitive or economic conditions affecting our financial condition or results of operations not presently contemplated.

Other risks may adversely impact us, as described more fully under "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

These cautionary statements should not be construed by you to be exhaustive and they are made only as of the date of this prospectus. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements except as statements of our present intentions and of our present expectations, which may or may not occur. You should read these cautionary statements as being applicable to all forward-looking statements wherever they appear. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to release publicly the result of any revision to these forward-looking statements that may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Readers are also urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures we have made or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, as well as our other periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC.

OUR COMPANY

We believe we are the global leader in information protection and storage services. We help organizations around the world reduce the costs and risks associated with information protection and storage. We offer comprehensive records management and data protection solutions, along with the expertise and experience to address complex information challenges such as rising storage costs, litigation, regulatory compliance and disaster recovery. We have a diversified customer base comprised of commercial, legal, banking, healthcare, accounting, insurance, entertainment and government organizations, including more than 90% of the Fortune 1000 and more than 85% of the FTSE 100.

As of December 31, 2006, we provided services to over 90,000 corporate clients in 85 markets in the U.S. and 86 markets outside of the U.S., employed over 18,600 people and operated over 900 records management facilities in the U.S., Canada, Europe, Latin America and Asia Pacific.

RISK FACTORS

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. Before making an investment decision, in addition to the other information included in, or incorporated by reference into, this prospectus, including under "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, you should carefully consider the risk factors included in any applicable prospectus supplement or incorporated by reference into this prospectus when determining whether or not to purchase the securities offered under this prospectus and the prospectus supplement.

DESCRIPTION OF OUR DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

The following questions and answers explain and constitute our Direct Stock Purchase Plan, which we refer to below as the plan.

1. WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THE PLAN?

The plan is intended to provide investors with a simple, convenient and economical method of purchasing shares of our common stock.

In turn, the plan provides us with an economical and flexible mechanism to raise equity capital through sales of our common stock. To the extent shares of common stock are purchased directly from us under the plan, we will receive proceeds that we will use for our general corporate purposes. We will not, however, receive any proceeds from shares of our common stock that the plan administrator may purchase, at our direction, in the open market or in negotiated transactions with third parties in order to supply shares issued to participants under the plan.

2. WHAT FEATURES ARE AVAILABLE UNDER THE PLAN?

The plan allows participants to:

make initial cash investments in our common stock in amounts of at least \$1,000 and up to \$10,000;

make additional cash investments in our common stock at any time in amounts of at least \$500 per payment and up to \$10,000 per month;

make additional optional cash investments in excess of \$10,000 per month, but only after submission of a written request for waiver has been made to us and after we have given our written approval, which we may grant or refuse to grant in our sole discretion:

on investments in excess of \$10,000 that we approve, purchase newly issued shares of our common stock at a discount of up to 5%, as we may determine from time to time in our sole discretion; and

elect to have cash dividends, if any, that we pay in the future on our common stock automatically reinvested in additional shares of our common stock.

3. WHAT ARE THE ADVANTAGES OF PARTICIPATING IN THE PLAN?

Participants in the plan will enjoy certain benefits:

You will be able to purchase our common stock without paying any brokerage commission and, for purchases in excess of \$10,000 per month, potentially at a discount of up to 5%, which discount will be determined at our sole discretion.

Your funds will be fully invested because the plan permits fractions of shares to be credited to your plan account, although fractional share certificates will not be issued.

You can be free of cumbersome safekeeping requirements, as our custodial service will safely hold your shares in book-entry form.

You will have a simple way of making periodic cash investments in our company, when and as you choose, in order to build your ownership over time and also to utilize dollar-cost-averaging if such technique is part of your general investment strategy.

You may direct the plan administrator to sell or transfer all or a portion of the shares held in your plan account and therefore you may find the plan an economical way to liquidate holdings from time to time.

You will receive periodic statements, called statements of holdings, reflecting all current activity in your plan account, including purchases, sales and latest balances, which will simplify your record keeping.

4. WHAT ARE THE DISADVANTAGES OF MAKING INVESTMENTS IN IRON MOUNTAIN THROUGH THE PLAN?

The plan may present certain disadvantages to a participant as compared to investing in our company through a brokerage firm:

We may, without giving you prior notice, change our determination as to whether the plan administrator or a broker affiliated with the plan administrator will purchase shares of common stock directly from us, in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions from third parties.

You will not know the actual number of shares purchased in any month for your account under the plan until after the applicable investment date.

Because the investment price may represent an average of numerous market prices, it may actually exceed the price at which you could have purchased shares in the open market on the investment date.

Sales of shares for participants that have made valid sale elections are made daily when practicable, at specified times and in a manner designed not to disrupt the market for our common stock. Accordingly, you may experience delays in the execution of sales of your shares held in the plan.

On purchases in excess of \$10,000 that we approve, you may not be able to depend on the availability of a discount on newly issued shares acquired under the plan. While a discount from market prices of up to 5% may be established for a particular period, a discount for one period will not ensure the availability of the same discount or any discount for future periods. For any period we may, without giving you prior notice, change or eliminate the discount.

Shares deposited in a plan account may not be pledged. If you desire to pledge shares deposited in a plan account, you must withdraw the shares from the plan.

You will not receive interest on funds held by the plan administrator pending investment or on funds returned if we suspend or terminate the plan or if your investment does not meet our minimum threshold or exceeds \$10,000 and is not approved by

5. WHO WILL ADMINISTER THE PLAN?

The plan will be administered by The Bank of New York, a New York trust company, or any successor plan administrator we designate. The plan administrator acts as agent for participants, keeps records of the accounts of participants, sends regular account statements to participants, and performs other duties relating to the plan. Shares purchased for each participant under the plan will be held by the plan administrator and will be registered in the name of the plan administrator or its nominee,

unless and until a participant requests that a stock certificate for all or part of such shares be issued, as more fully described in this prospectus. Correspondence with the plan administrator should be sent to:

Iron Mountain Incorporated c/o The Bank of New York 101 Barclay Street 11 East New York, NY 10286

Plan participants who are existing stockholders of ours or other persons requesting information about the plan may also telephone (617) 535-2874, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Customer service representatives are available between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, Monday through Friday. This telephone number may be used to obtain or inquire about information concerning your plan account, authorization and enrollment forms, whether requests for waiver are being accepted, price and discount information and requests for waiver.

6. WHO IS ELIGIBLE TO PARTICIPATE IN THE PLAN?

Our existing stockholders, as well as persons seeking to purchase their first shares in our company, may participate in the plan.

A registered holder, which means a stockholder whose shares of common stock are registered in our stock transfer books in his or her name, may participate in the plan directly. A beneficial owner, which means a stockholder whose shares are registered in our stock transfer books in a name other than his or her name, for example, in the name of a broker, bank, or other nominee, must either become a registered holder by having the shares transferred into his or her name, make arrangements with his or her broker, bank or other nominee to participate in the plan on the participant's behalf, or follow procedures for interested investors who are not already stockholders.

An interested investor that is not currently a stockholder may participate in the plan by making an initial cash investment in our common stock of not less than \$1,000 and not more than \$10,000. In some circumstances, however, we may permit greater optional cash investments if an appropriate request for waiver is filed with us and accepted.

The right to participate in the plan is not transferable to another person. We reserve the right to exclude from participation in the plan persons who use the plan to engage in short-term trading activities that cause aberrations in the trading of our common stock. Optional cash investments submitted by brokerage firms or other nominees on behalf of a participant may be aggregated for purposes of determining whether the maximum investment of \$10,000 per month would be exceeded. In addition, we reserve the right to treat optional cash investments submitted with forms reflecting participants with the same name, address or social security or taxpayer identification number as a single investment for purposes of determining whether the maximum investment of \$10,000 per month would be exceeded.

If you live outside the United States and are not a citizen, you can participate in the plan provided there are not any laws or governmental regulations that would prohibit your participation in the plan. We reserve the right to terminate participation of any stockholder if we deem it advisable under any foreign or domestic laws or regulations. All plan funds must be in United States dollars and drawn on a United States financial institution. If you are not in the United States, please contact your financial institution to verify that they can provide you with a check that clears through a United States financial institution and can print the dollar amount in United States dollars. Due to the longer clearing period, we are unable to accept checks clearing through non-United States financial institutions. Please contact your local financial institution for details on how to make the transaction. If we ever pay dividends to stockholders, all dividends will be subject to withholding under the terms of any applicable tax treaty provisions. Please see Questions 9 and 13 for additional information on dividend reinvestment.

Participants residing in any jurisdiction in which their participation in the plan would be unlawful will not be eligible to participate in the plan.

7. HOW DOES AN ELIGIBLE PERSON PARTICIPATE IN THE PLAN?

A person may participate in the plan by following the appropriate procedure set forth below.

Our Registered Holders

If you are a registered holder of our common stock, you may enroll in the plan and become a participant by:

completing and signing a stockholder authorization form; and

returning it to the plan administrator at the address set forth in Question 5.

Please note, that if the shares you currently own are registered in more than one name, for example, as joint tenants or trustees, all registered holders of such shares must sign the stockholder authorization form exactly as their names appear on the account registration.

Registered holders may obtain additional information and the necessary stockholder authorization form at any time by contacting the plan administrator at the address or phone number set forth in Question 5.

Our Beneficial Owners

If you are a beneficial owner of our common stock and you desire to participate in the plan, you must:

instruct the registered holder who holds the shares of common stock on your behalf, usually a broker, bank or other nominee, to have all or a portion of those shares registered directly in your name. You would then follow the procedures described above for registered holders; or

make arrangements with the broker, bank or other nominee to participate in the plan on your behalf.

Alternatively, a beneficial holder may enroll in the plan in the same manner as someone who is not currently an owner of our common stock, as described in the procedures below for interested investors. Some state securities laws require that a registered broker-dealer send this information to their residents. A registered broker-dealer, rather than the plan administrator, will forward a copy of this prospectus and the enrollment form to residents of those states.

Interested Investors Who Do Not Currently Own Our Common Stock

An interested investor who is not presently one of our stockholders, but desires to become a participant in the plan by making an initial cash investment in our common stock, may join the plan by:

completing and signing an initial purchase form; and

forwarding it, together with a check in the amount of the initial cash investment of at least \$1,000 and not more than \$10,000, unless an appropriate waiver is filed with us and accepted, to the plan administrator at the address set forth in Question 5.

Any offer to make an initial cash investment greater than \$10,000 must be made in accordance with the procedures described below in Question 17. Initial cash investments can be made by check payable to "The Bank of New York Iron Mountain Incorporated." All forms of payment must be in United States dollars and drawn on a United States financial institution. Cash, money orders, and third

party checks will not be accepted. Investments in excess of \$10,000 and approved by us must be made by wire transfer as described below in Ouestion 17.

Interested investors may obtain additional information and the necessary initial purchase form at any time using the address or phone number set forth in Question 5. Some state securities laws require that a registered broker-dealer send this information to their residents. A registered broker-dealer, rather than the plan administrator, will forward a copy of this prospectus and the initial purchase form to residents of those states.

8. WHAT IS THE PURPOSE AND EFFECT OF COMPLETING AND FORWARDING THE STOCKHOLDER AUTHORIZATION FORM AND THE INITIAL PURCHASE FORM?

The stockholder authorization form and the initial purchase form will appoint the plan administrator as your agent for purposes of your participation in the plan. The forms direct the plan administrator to apply any optional cash investments made by you, whether transmitted with the stockholder authorization form or the initial purchase form or made at dates subsequent to your enrollment, to the purchase on your behalf of additional full and fractional shares of our common stock in accordance with the plan.

9. CAN PLAN PARTICIPANTS REINVEST THE DIVIDENDS, IF ANY, ON THEIR COMMON STOCK THROUGH THE PLAN?

The stockholder authorization form and the initial purchase form allow participants to provide for the reinvestment of dividends, if any, through the following options (in all cases minus any applicable withholding tax):

Full dividend reinvestment. This option allows you to reinvest automatically all cash dividends received on all shares of our common stock registered in your name and/or held in your plan account.

Partial dividend reinvestment. This option allows you to receive cash dividends on a specified number of full shares of our common stock registered in your name and/or held in your plan account and to reinvest automatically only the dividends on any remaining shares of common stock.

No dividend reinvestment. This option allows you to receive cash dividends on all shares of our common stock registered in your name and/or held in your plan account. None of your cash dividends will be reinvested.

Any one of the above three options may be selected. In each case, cash dividends, if any, will be reinvested on all shares designated for participation in the plan until the participant specifies otherwise or withdraws from the plan altogether, or until the plan is terminated. Participation in the dividend reinvestment portion of the plan will commence with the next dividend payment date after the plan administrator receives your stockholder authorization form or initial purchase form, as the case may be, provided that the plan administrator receives the form on or prior to the record date for such dividend payment. If the plan administrator does not receive your stockholder authorization form or initial purchase form on or prior to the record date for a particular dividend payment, participation in the dividend reinvestment portion of the plan may not commence until the following dividend payment date.

A participant may change his or her dividend reinvestment election at any time by contacting the plan administrator. Changes in the dividend reinvestment election will be effective for a particular dividend payment date provided the request is received prior to the related dividend record date. If a change in the dividend reinvestment election is not received prior to the related dividend record date, the change will not be effective until the following dividend payment date.

Notwithstanding our discussion of your ability to reinvest dividends, it is unlikely that we will pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future and nothing in this prospectus is intended to indicate otherwise.

10. WHAT ARE THE EXPENSES OF THE PLAN, AND WHO PAYS THEM?

We will pay all fees, brokerage commissions, and related expenses associated with the purchase of our common stock in the open market or in negotiated transactions with third parties on behalf of participants. Shares purchased directly from us for the plan will not involve brokerage commissions or trading fees. There is, however, a one-time enrollment fee of \$10.00 which will be deducted from the initial investment of interested investors who are not already stockholders of Iron Mountain.

In the event that any form of payment is returned unpaid for any reason, such as a returned check, the participant will be subject to a \$25.00 fee which will be deducted from the participant's plan account. This fee and any other incidental costs associated with the insufficient funds will be collected by our plan administrator through the sale of an appropriate number of shares from your plan account.

In addition, participants that request the sale of any of their shares held in the plan must pay a service fee equal to \$15.00 per sale, plus a commission currently equal to \$0.10 per share sold plus any applicable taxes. The plan administrator may effect any sales of shares for the plan through a broker-dealer including a broker affiliated with the plan administrator, in which case the broker-dealer will receive the commission for effecting the transaction.

The plan administrator may also charge participants for additional services not provided under the plan. Brokers or nominees that participate on behalf of beneficial owners for whom they are holding shares may charge such beneficial owners additional fees in connection with such participation, for which neither the plan administrator nor we will be responsible.

Participation in the plan is voluntary and a participant may discontinue his or her participation at any time.

11. WHAT ARE THE SOURCES OF SHARES PURCHASED UNDER THE PLAN?

Purchases of shares of our common stock by the plan administrator for participants in the plan may be made, at our election, either (1) directly from us out of our authorized but unissued shares of common stock or treasury shares, or (2) in the open market or in negotiated transactions with third parties. We or the plan administrator will also appoint a broker affiliated with the plan administrator to act on behalf of plan participants in buying stock in the open market. This affiliated broker will also sell shares of common stock held in the plan for plan participants.

12. WHEN ARE SHARES PURCHASED UNDER THE PLAN; WHAT IS THE INVESTMENT DATE?

Purchases of shares of common stock made with initial cash payments from enrolling investors and with optional cash payments from current stockholders will begin on an investment date which will be the 1st and 15th of each month (if this date is not a trading day on the New York Stock Exchange, then the investment date will be the next trading day), except that an investment date for investments in excess of \$10,000 pursuant to requests for waiver that we have approved will occur only once a month, if at all, on a day that we set at the beginning of the month, which will be the end of the pricing period for such month.

The plan administrator will use cash investments to purchase shares of common stock during the relevant investment period. The plan administrator will make arrangements with an affiliated broker to buy shares in the open market. Purchases may be made over a number of days to meet the requirements of the plan. No interest will be paid on funds held by the plan administrator or its affiliated broker pending investment. The plan administrator or its affiliated broker may commingle your funds with those of other participants in the plan for purposes of executing purchase transactions.

Because the plan administrator or its affiliated broker will purchase shares on behalf of the plan, neither we nor any participant in the plan has the authority or power to control either the timing or pricing of the shares purchased. Therefore, you will not be able to precisely time your purchases through the plan, and you will bear the market risk associated with fluctuations in the price of our common stock. That is, if you send in an investment, it is possible that the market price of our common stock could go up or down before the plan administrator or its affiliated broker arranges to purchase stock with your funds.

For investments that do not exceed \$10,000, the plan administrator or its affiliated broker will use its best efforts to apply all funds to the purchase of shares before the next investment date, subject to any applicable requirements of federal or state securities laws. We reserve the right to designate an exclusive broker to purchase our shares of common stock on the open market. Purchases of our shares of common stock by the plan administrator or its affiliated broker on the open market or in negotiated transactions with third parties usually will be completed no later than 30 days after the applicable investment date, except where completion at a later date is necessary or advisable under any applicable securities laws or regulations; provided, however, investments under \$10,000 that are not invested within 35 days of receipt will be returned. Shares of common stock purchased on the open market or in negotiated transactions with third parties will be credited to participating accounts as soon as practicable after all purchases for the investment date are settled. Shares issued and sold by us will be credited on the investment date.

Pursuant to an approved request for waiver, the plan administrator will only acquire shares of common stock directly from us out of our authorized but unissued shares of common stock or treasury shares. Newly issued shares or treasury shares purchased with investments over \$10,000 will be posted to participants' accounts as of the investment date determined by us at the beginning of each month.

If dividends are declared at some time in the future, the investment date for the reinvestment of dividends will be the dividend payment date, (if this date is not a trading day on the New York Stock Exchange, then the investment date will be the next trading day). Purchases with dividend investments will begin on the investment date. Newly issued shares or treasury shares will be posted to participants' accounts as of the investment date. Purchases with dividend investments in the open market or in negotiated transactions with third parties, however, will be posted to participants' accounts after the settlement period. Settlement normally occurs three business days after the investment is completed. Dividends that are not invested within 30 days of the dividend date will be paid to the participant.

The plan administrator must receive cash investments, other than investments pursuant to requests for waiver, no later than two business days before the investment date for those investments to be invested in our common stock beginning on that investment date. Otherwise, the plan administrator may hold those funds and arrange for their investment beginning on the next investment date. No interest will be paid on funds held by the plan administrator or its affiliated broker pending investment. Accordingly, you may wish to transmit any investments so that they reach the plan administrator shortly but not less than two business days before the investment date. This will minimize the time period during which your funds are not invested. Participants have an unconditional right to obtain the return of any cash payment up to two business days prior to the investment date by sending a written request to the plan administrator.

Please note that participants will not be able to instruct the plan administrator or its affiliated broker to purchase shares at a specific time or at a specific price.

13. HOW IS THE PRICE DETERMINED FOR SHARES ACQUIRED THROUGH DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT?

The plan will acquire shares for participants who have elected to reinvest all or a portion of their dividends if, at some time in the future, a dividend is declared by our board of directors. Purchases of

shares of our common stock through the reinvestment of dividends, if any are declared, will begin on the investment date (i.e., the dividend payment date). The purchase price of shares acquired through the plan through the reinvestment of dividends will be equal to:

in the case of newly issued shares or treasury shares of our common stock, the average of the high and low sale prices of our common stock as reported as New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions on the investment date. If no trading is reported for the investment date, the purchase price will be equal to the average of the high and low sale prices of our common stock as reported as New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions, on the trading day immediately prior to the investment date: or

in the case of shares purchased in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, the weighted average price of all shares purchased with the dividend funds.

14. WHAT LIMITATIONS AND EXCEPTIONS APPLY TO OPTIONAL CASH INVESTMENTS?

For any investment date, optional cash investments made by our stockholders are subject to a minimum of \$500 per payment. In addition, optional cash investments by our stockholders are subject to a maximum of \$10,000 per month, unless a request for waiver has been approved as described below. Optional cash investments made by interested investors who are not then stockholders of our company are subject to a minimum initial investment of \$1,000 and a maximum of \$10,000, unless a request for waiver has been approved.

Optional cash investments of less than the allowable minimum amount and that portion of any optional cash investment that exceeds the allowable monthly maximum amount will be returned, except as noted below, promptly to participants, without interest. Optional cash investments submitted by brokerage firms or other nominees on behalf of a participant may be aggregated for purposes of determining whether the \$10,000 limit will be exceeded. In addition, we reserve the right to treat optional cash investments submitted with forms reflecting participants with the same name, address or social security or taxpayer identification number as a single investment for purposes of determining whether the \$10,000 limit would be exceeded. Please note that dividend funds, if any, will not be combined with optional cash investments in determining whether the \$10,000 limit has been exceeded.

15. HOW ARE INVESTMENTS FOR \$10,000 OR LESS MADE?

All participants, including brokers, banks and nominees with respect to shares registered in their name on behalf of beneficial owners, are eligible to make optional cash investments at any time. Other interested investors that are not stockholders of our company are also eligible to make initial investments in our common stock at any time by submitting an initial purchase form and funds representing their desired initial investments.

The plan administrator will apply all investments under \$10,000 per month by check, for which good funds are received at least two business days before the investment date for those investments to be invested in our common stock beginning on that investment date. If good funds are received by the plan administrator by check after this deadline, they will not be invested until the next following investment date. No interest will be paid on any funds pending investment. All optional cash investments are subject to collection by the plan administrator for full face value in United States dollars.

Newly issued shares or treasury shares will be posted to participants' accounts as of the investment date. Purchases in the open market or in negotiated transactions with third parties, however, will be posted to participants' accounts after the settlement period. Settlement normally occurs three business days after the investment is completed.

There is no obligation to make an optional cash investment at any time, and the amount of such investments may vary from time to time.

All optional cash investments made by check should be made payable to:

"The Bank of New York Iron Mountain Incorporated"

and mailed to the plan administrator, along with the cash investment or other transaction form attached to the bottom of each statement of holdings, at the address listed on the form. Due to the longer clearance period, the plan administrator is unable to accept checks clearing through non-United States financial institutions. Any checks not drawn on a United States financial institution or not payable in United States dollars will be returned to the participant, as will any cash, money order or third party checks. If you are not in the United States, contact your financial institution to verify that they can provide you with a check that clears through a United States financial institution and can print the dollar amount in United States funds. All inquiries should be directed to the plan administrator as set forth in Question 5.

In the event that any form of payment is returned unpaid for any reason, the plan administrator will consider the request for investment of such funds null and void and shall immediately remove from the participant's account shares, if any, purchased upon the prior credit of such funds. The plan administrator shall then be entitled to sell those shares to satisfy any uncollected amounts. If the net proceeds of the sale of these shares are insufficient to satisfy the balance of the uncollected amounts, the plan administrator shall be entitled to sell such additional shares from the participant's account as necessary to satisfy the uncollected balance. Any deposit returned unpaid will be subject to a \$25.00 fee that will be deducted from the participant's account, as described above in Question 10.

16. HOW IS THE PRICE DETERMINED FOR INVESTMENTS OF \$10,000 OR LESS?

Each month the plan will acquire shares for participants who have made valid and timely cash investments during that month.

The purchase price of shares acquired through the plan with cash investments of \$10,000 or less during any month will be equal to:

in the case of newly issued shares or treasury shares of our common stock, the average of the high and low sale prices of our common stock as reported as New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions on the investment date. If no trading is reported for the investment date, the purchase price will be equal to the average of the high and low sale prices of our common stock as reported as New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions on the trading day immediately prior to the investment date; or

in the case of shares purchased in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, the weighted average price of all shares purchased.

17. HOW ARE INVESTMENTS IN EXCESS OF \$10,000 MADE?

Investments in excess of \$10,000 per month may be made only pursuant to a request for waiver accepted by us.

Participants may ascertain whether we are accepting requests for waiver in any given month, and certain other important information, by telephoning us on the first business day of each month at (617) 535-2874 or such other number as we may establish from time to time. When participants telephone Investor Relations on the first business day of each month, we will inform such participants of one of the three following pieces of information:

(1) that we will not be accepting requests for waiver that month;

12

- that we will be accepting requests for waiver that month. If this is the case, we will either (a) provide relevant information such as the date the pricing period will begin; the number of days in the pricing period; the threshold price, if any; the waiver discount, if any; and whether we have established a reverse auction procedure, or (b) inform participants of a date later in the month when they can call to obtain this relevant information; or
- that we have not yet determined whether we will be accepting requests for waiver. If this is the case, we will inform participants of a date later in the month when they can call to inquire as to whether we will be accepting requests for waiver.

We will decide whether to accept requests for waiver at least three days prior to the commencement of the applicable pricing period, as is further explained in Question 18.

We must receive a request for waiver no later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on the third business day before the first day of the relevant pricing period. Participants who wish to make an investment in excess of \$10,000 in any given month, including those whose proposed investments have been aggregated so as to exceed \$10,000, must obtain our prior written approval, which will be given or rejected on or before the second business day prior to the first day of the pricing period, and a copy of such written approval must accompany any such investment. Good funds for such investments exceeding \$10,000 per month must be received by the plan administrator no later than one business day prior to the first day of the pricing period. To obtain a request for waiver or additional information, a participant may call Investor Relations at the number above. Completed requests for waiver should be faxed directly to Investor Relations at (617) 535-7881 or such other number as we may establish from time to time.

We also may make the foregoing information available on the Investor Relations segment of our website at http://www.ironmountain.com or on another website as we may establish for this purpose from time to time. The website may also contain a form for submitting a request for waiver via electronic mail. We have not incorporated by reference into this prospectus the information on our website, and you should not consider it to be a part of this prospectus.

We have sole discretion to grant any approval for investments in excess of the allowable maximum amount. In deciding whether to approve a request for waiver, we will consider relevant factors including, but not limited to:

whether the plan is then purchasing newly issued shares or treasury shares of our common stock, or is purchasing shares of our common stock in the open market;

our need for additional funds;

the attractiveness of obtaining such additional funds through the sale of our common stock as compared to other sources of funds;

the purchase price likely to apply to any sale of common stock;

the participant submitting the request;

the extent and nature of such participant's prior participation in the plan;

the number of shares held of record by such participant; and

the aggregate amount of optional cash investments in excess of \$10,000 for which requests for waiver have been submitted

by all participants.

If requests for waiver are submitted for any investment date for an aggregate amount in excess of the amount we are then willing to accept, we may honor such requests in order of receipt, pro rata or by any other method that we determine, in our sole discretion, to be appropriate.

We reserve the right to modify, suspend or terminate participation in the plan by otherwise eligible registered holders or beneficial owners of our common stock for any reason whatsoever, including elimination of practices that are not consistent with the purposes of the plan.

18. HOW IS THE PRICE DETERMINED FOR INVESTMENTS IN EXCESS OF \$10,000 PURSUANT TO A REQUEST FOR WAIVER?

Pricing Period and Purchase Price Determination

The trading period over which the investment price is calculated for purchases in excess of \$10,000 per month is referred to as the pricing period. You may ascertain all relevant information regarding the pricing period and purchase price determination by telephoning us at (617) 535-2874 or at such other number as we may establish from time to time, as is explained in Question 17.

The purchase price of shares of our common stock purchased pursuant to a request for waiver will be the volume weighted average price of our common stock reported by the New York Stock Exchange, from Bloomberg, LP (unless such service is unavailable, in which case we will designate another service to be utilized prior to the beginning of the pricing period) for the New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions occurring during the trading hours from 9:30 a.m., New York City time, through the close of trading on the New York Stock Exchange, rounded to four decimal places, if necessary, for each trading day during the relevant pricing period, less any applicable waiver discount as described below, calculated pro rata on a daily basis. For example, if a cash investment of \$10 million is made pursuant to an approved request for waiver for a pricing period of 10 trading days, the number of shares will be calculated for each day of the pricing period by taking a pro rata portion of the total cash investment for each day of the pricing period, which would be \$1 million, and dividing it by the volume weighted average price of our common stock reported as New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions, obtained from Bloomberg, LP (unless such service is unavailable, in which case we will designate another service to be utilized prior to the beginning of the pricing period) on that day, rounded to four decimal places, if necessary, less any applicable discount. On the last day of the pricing period, or the investment date, the total investment amount, \$10 million, will be divided by the total number of shares acquired over the 10 days (assuming the threshold price is met) in order to establish the purchase price.

The plan administrator will apply all investments pursuant to requests for waiver that are approved by us and that are received by the plan administrator on or before the first business day before the first day of the relevant pricing period to the purchase of shares of our common stock on the investment date we set at the beginning of the month for such approved investments. All such investments received after the close of business on the first business day before the first day of the relevant pricing period will be returned without interest.

Optional Pricing Period Extension Feature

We may elect to activate for any given pricing period the pricing period extension feature which will provide that the initial pricing period will be extended by the number of days that the threshold price is not satisfied, or on which there are no trades of our common stock reported as New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions, subject to a maximum of five days. If the threshold price is satisfied for any additional day that has been added to the initial pricing period, that day will be included as one of the trading days for the pricing period in lieu of the day on which the threshold price was not met or trades of our common stock were not reported. For example, if the determined pricing period is 10 consecutive business days, and the threshold price is not satisfied for three out of those 10 days in the pricing period, and we had previously announced at the time of the waiver request acceptance that the optional pricing period extension feature was activated, then the pricing period will automatically be extended, and if the threshold price is satisfied on the next three trading days, then

those three days will be included in the pricing period in lieu of the three days on which the threshold price was not met. As a result, the purchase price will be based upon the 10 trading days of the initial and extended pricing period on which the threshold price was satisfied and all of the optional cash investment will be invested (rather than 30% being returned to the participant). Participants may ascertain whether the pricing period extension feature has been activated for any given pricing period by telephoning us at (617) 535-2874 or at such other number as we may establish from time to time, at the conclusion of the original pricing period.

Threshold Price with Respect to Optional Cash Investments Made Pursuant to Requests for Waiver

We may establish for any pricing period a threshold price applicable to investments made pursuant to requests for waiver. At least three business days prior to the first day of the applicable pricing period, we will determine whether to establish a threshold price and, if a threshold price is established, its amount, and will so notify the plan administrator. This determination will be made by us in our sole discretion after a review of current market conditions, the level of participation in the plan, and current and projected capital needs. Participants may ascertain whether a threshold price has been set or waived for any given pricing period and any applicable discount by telephoning us at (617) 535-2874 or at such other number as we may establish from time to time, as is explained in Question 17.

If established for any pricing period, the threshold price will be stated as a dollar amount that the volume weighted average price of our common stock reported as New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions, obtained from Bloomberg, LP (unless such service is unavailable, in which case we will designate another service to be utilized prior to the beginning of the pricing period) for the trading hours from 9:30 a.m., New York City time, through the close of trading on the New York Stock Exchange, must equal or exceed on each trading day of the relevant pricing period. In the event that the threshold price is not satisfied for a trading day in the pricing period or there are no trades of our common stock reported as New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions for a trading day, then that trading day will be excluded from the pricing period with respect to optional cash investments made pursuant to requests for waiver, and all trading prices for that day will be excluded from the determination of the purchase price. For example, if the threshold price is not satisfied for two of the 10 trading days in a pricing period, then the purchase price will be based upon the remaining eight trading days on which the threshold price was satisfied, unless we have activated the pricing period extension feature for the pricing period as described above under "Optional Pricing Period Extension Feature."

In addition, a pro rata portion of each investment made pursuant to a request for waiver will be returned for each trading day of a pricing period on which the threshold price is not satisfied or for each trading day on which no trades of shares of common stock are reported as New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions, subject to the effect of an optional pricing period extension feature as described above under "Optional Pricing Period Extension Feature." The returned amount will equal the total amount of the investment multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of trading days that the threshold price is not satisfied or trades of our common stock are not reported as New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions and the denominator of which is the number of trading days in the pricing period. For example, if the threshold price is not satisfied or if no sales are reported for one of 10 trading days in a pricing period, one-tenth of the optional investment will be returned. All such funds will be returned as soon as reasonably practicable after the pricing period without interest.

The establishment of the threshold price and the possible return of a portion of the investment applies only to optional cash investments made pursuant to a request for waiver but applies to the entire amount of the optional cash investment, including the first \$10,000. Setting a threshold price for a pricing period shall not affect the setting of a threshold price for any subsequent pricing period. We may waive our right to set a threshold price for any pricing period. Neither we nor the plan

administrator will be required to provide any written notice to participants as to the threshold price for any pricing period. Participants may, however, ascertain whether a threshold price has been set or waived for any given pricing period and any applicable discount by telephoning us at (617) 535-2874 or at such other number as we may establish from time to time.

Waiver Discount

We may, in our sole discretion, establish a "waiver discount" of up to 5% from the market price applicable to optional investments made pursuant to requests for waiver. The waiver discount will not vary within any pricing period.

We will determine, in our sole discretion, whether to establish a waiver discount after a review of current market conditions, the level of participation and our current and projected capital needs. At least three business days before the first day of the applicable pricing period, we will determine whether to establish a waiver discount and, if a waiver discount is established, its amount, and will notify the plan administrator. Neither we nor the plan administrator will be required to provide any written notice of the waiver discount, if any, for any pricing period. We also reserve the right to establish a reverse auction procedure by which participants seeking to make optional cash investments under a waiver may submit to us a "bid" with respect to the discount at which they are willing to make the optional cash investment. Participants may ascertain whether we have established a waiver discount, the amount of such discount and whether we have established a reverse auction procedure for any pricing period by telephoning us at (617) 535-2874 or at such other number as we may establish from time to time, as is explained in Question 17.

19. IN WHAT SITUATIONS WILL AN INVESTMENT BE RETURNED TO A PARTICIPANT?

The plan administrator will return optional cash investments of \$10,000 or less to a participant provided the plan administrator receives a written request for such return at least two business days prior to the investment date. Optional cash investments of \$10,000 or less will be returned by check, without interest, as soon as reasonably practicable. Please note that optional cash investments greater than \$10,000 for which a participant has received an approved request for waiver will not be returned to a participant, except for as described in Question 18 under "Threshold Price with Respect to Optional Cash Investments Made Pursuant to Requests for Waiver." Question 12 further provides for returns of optional and initial cash investments if such investments are not invested, for whatever reason, within 35 days of receipt of funds. Additionally, Question 12 provides that cash dividends will be disbursed if not invested within 30 days after the dividend payment date.

20. WHAT IF A PARTICIPANT HAS MORE THAN ONE ACCOUNT IN THE PLAN?

For the purpose of the limitations discussed in this prospectus, we reserve the right to aggregate all optional investments for participants with more than one account using the same name, address or social security or taxpayer identification number. For participants unable to supply a social security or taxpayer identification number, participation may be limited by us to only one plan account. Also for the purpose of such limitations, all plan accounts that we believe to be under common control or management or to have common ultimate beneficial ownership may be aggregated. In the event we exercise our right to aggregate investments and the result would be an investment in excess of \$10,000 without an approved request for waiver, we will return, without interest, as promptly as practicable, any amounts in excess of the investment limits.

21. WILL CERTIFICATES BE ISSUED TO PARTICIPANTS FOR THE SHARES OF OUR COMMON STOCK PURCHASED UNDER THE PLAN?

All shares purchased pursuant to the plan will be held in "book entry" form through accounts maintained by the plan administrator. This serves to protect against the loss, theft or destruction of certificates evidencing shares. Participants may contact the plan administrator at the address or telephone number set forth in Question 5 above, or may utilize the cash investment and other transaction form attached to the bottom of each statement of holdings, to request a certificate for all or a portion of the whole shares held in book-entry form. Upon such a request, the plan administrator will, within two business days of receipt of the request, issue and mail certificates for the whole shares credited to that participant's account. Certificates will be issued only in the same names as those enrolled in the plan. In no event will certificates for fractional shares be issued.

If a participant requests a certificate for whole shares of our common stock held in his or her account, distributions on those shares will continue to be reinvested or paid in cash, as elected by the participant, under the plan in the same manner as prior to the request so long as the shares of common stock remain registered in the participant's name.

22. MAY A PARTICIPANT DEPOSIT WITH THE PLAN ADMINISTRATOR CERTIFICATES FOR SHARES WHICH HE OR SHE ALREADY OWNS OUTSIDE THE PLAN?

Yes, if the certificates are unrestricted. Whether or not the participant has previously authorized reinvestment of dividends, certificates registered in the participant's name that do not bear any legend restricting transfer may be surrendered to the plan administrator for deposit in the participant's plan account. If a participant desires to deposit certificates for shares of our common stock with the plan administrator, the participant may contact the plan administrator at the address or telephone number listed in Question 5 for the proper procedure.

23. CAN PARTICIPANTS SELL SHARES HELD UNDER THE PLAN?

Participants may contact the plan administrator in order to request the sale of all or a portion of the shares held in their plan account. Following receipt of instructions from a participant, the plan administrator will arrange for sales to be made through an affiliated broker as soon as practicable and will remit a check for the proceeds of such sale, less a service fee equal \$15.00, brokerage commissions and any applicable taxes.

Shares to be sold will be aggregated by the plan administrator or its affiliated broker and generally sold within five business days. The plan administrator or its affiliated broker may commingle your shares with those of other participants in the plan for the purposes of executing sale transactions. The sales price per share will be equal to the weighted average price of all shares sold on the trading day, less brokerage commissions, which are currently equal to \$0.10 per share.

All sale request having an anticipated market value of \$100,000.00 or more, and all sale requests received by the plan administrator within 30 days of an address change to a participant's plan account, must be submitted in written form to the plan administrator.

Please note that the plan administrator is not able to accept instructions to sell on a particular date or at a specific price. We reserve the right to designate an exclusive broker to sell shares of our common stock on the open market. Because the plan administrator will arrange for the sale of shares through an affiliated broker, neither we nor any plan participant has the authority or power to control either the timing or the pricing of shares sold. Therefore, you will not be able to precisely time your sales through the plan and you will bear the market risk associated with fluctuations in the price of our common stock. That is, if you send in a request for a sale, it is possible that the market price of our common stock could go up or down before the sale is completed. If you prefer to have control over the

exact price and timing of your sale, you can terminate your account and conduct the transaction through a stockbroker of your choice.

24. CAN A PARTICIPANT TRANSFER SHARES HELD IN THE PLAN TO SOMEONE ELSE?

Participants may transfer ownership of a portion or all of the shares held in their plan accounts. Participants should contact the plan administrator at the address or telephone number listed in Question 5 for detailed transfer instructions.

25. WHAT HAPPENS IF A PARTICIPANT SELLS OR TRANSFERS SHARES OR ACQUIRES ADDITIONAL SHARES?

If a participant has elected to have dividends automatically reinvested in the plan and subsequently sells or transfers all or any part of the shares registered in the participant's name, automatic reinvestment will continue in accordance with the participant's instructions as long as shares are registered in the name of the participant or held for the participant by the plan administrator or until termination of participation or the participant specifies otherwise. Similarly, if a participant has elected the "Full Dividend Reinvestment" option under the plan and subsequently acquires additional shares registered in the participant's name, dividends paid on such shares will automatically be reinvested until termination of participation or the participant specifies otherwise. If, however, a participant has elected the "Partial Dividend Reinvestment" option and subsequently acquires additional shares that are registered in the participant's name, dividends will be reinvested according to the participant's instructions as given on the most recent stockholder authorization form. Participants may change their dividend reinvestment elections by submitting a new stockholder authorization form or by contacting the plan administrator. However, we remind you that it is unlikely we will pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

26. WHAT REPORTS ARE SENT TO PARTICIPANTS?

After any activity occurs relating to a participant's plan account, the participant will be sent a statement of holdings that will provide a record of the costs of the shares of our common stock purchased or the price of the shares sold for that account, the purchase or sale date and the number of shares of common stock then credited to or debited from that account. We recommend that you retain these statements for income tax and general record keeping purposes.

In addition, each participant will be sent our annual report, notice of annual meeting and proxy statement, and income tax information for reporting distributions received. All reports and notices from the plan administrator will be addressed to the participant's last known address. Participants should notify the plan administrator promptly of any change of address.

27. MAY A PARTICIPANT TERMINATE HIS OR HER PLAN ACCOUNT?

Yes, a participant may terminate his or her plan account by contacting the plan administrator at the address or telephone number listed in Question 5 or by utilizing the cash investment and other transaction form attached to each statement of holdings. Participation will be terminated as soon as practicable provided the request is received at least two business days prior to the investment date or the payment date for a dividend payment. If the request is received less than two business days prior to the investment date or the payment date for a dividend payment, the termination may be postponed until after the acquisition of shares of our common stock on the investment date or the reinvestment of any dividends on the dividend payment date. After that time all cash dividends, if any, on shares owned by such participant will be sent to the participant, and the participant will receive (1) a certificate for all whole shares of our common stock held in the participant's plan account and (2) a check representing the value of any fractional shares of our common stock held in the participant's plan

account, less any applicable fees and brokerage commissions and any uninvested distributions held in the account,

If a participant's plan account balance falls below one full share, the plan administrator reserves the right to liquidate the fraction and remit the proceeds, less any applicable fees and brokerage commissions, to the participant at its address of record.

28. WHAT HAPPENS WHEN A PARTICIPANT TERMINATES AN ACCOUNT?

As soon as practicable after notice of termination is received, the plan administrator will send to the participant (1) a certificate evidencing all whole shares of our common stock held in the account and (2) a check representing the value of any fractional shares of our common stock held in the account, less any applicable fees and brokerage commissions. After an account is terminated, we will pay all distributions for the terminated account to the participant unless the participant re-elects to participate in the plan.

When terminating an account, the participant may request that all shares of our common stock, both whole and fractional, held in the plan account be sold, or that certain of the shares of such common stock be sold and a certificate be issued for the remaining whole shares. The plan administrator will remit to the participant the proceeds of any sale of shares of our common stock, less the fees and commissions listed in Questions 10 and 23. The sale price per share will be equal to the weighted average price of all shares sold on the trading day, less brokerage commissions, which are currently \$0.10 per share.

29. WHEN MAY A FORMER PARTICIPANT RE-ELECT TO PARTICIPATE IN THE PLAN?

Generally, any former participant may re-elect to participate at any time. However, the plan administrator reserves the right to reject any authorization form on the grounds of excessive joining and withdrawing. This reservation is intended to minimize unnecessary administrative expense and to encourage use of the plan as a long-term investment service.

30. WHAT ARE THE FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF PARTICIPATING IN THE PLAN?

The federal income tax consequences resulting from optional cash investments are uncertain. Participants may be deemed to receive a distribution from us upon the purchase of shares pursuant to the plan in an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the shares acquired on the investment date plus the participant's share of any fees paid by us, over the purchase price for the shares. The fair market value of shares acquired on an investment date is not likely to differ from the amount of optional cash investment by participants making investments not exceeding \$10,000 in any single month. Participants making investments exceeding \$10,000 in a single month who are eligible for a discount may be more likely to have a difference between the fair market value of shares acquired on an investment date and the amount of optional cash investment.

Any such deemed distribution will be treated as a taxable dividend to the extent attributable to our current or accumulated earnings and profits and then only if other stockholders receive or are deemed to receive distributions of cash or other property from us. If the deemed distribution is taxable as a dividend, the shares purchased under the plan will have a tax basis equal to the amount of the optional cash investment plus the amount of the deemed distribution, if any, which is treated as a taxable dividend. If the deemed distribution is not treated as a taxable dividend, the effect of such distribution on a stockholder's basis in his shares is uncertain. If the distribution is treated as made solely with respect to the newly acquired shares, or if the stockholder does not own other shares of our common stock at the time of the optional cash investment, the basis of such newly acquired shares will generally equal the amount paid for such shares. However, if the distribution is treated as made with respect to

both the newly acquired shares (or fraction thereof) and the other shares of our common stock held by such stockholder, the basis of the newly acquired shares (or fraction thereof) may exceed the amount paid for such shares and the basis for the shares held prior to the optional investment would be correspondingly reduced. In any event, the aggregate bases for all of a stockholder's shares of our common stock will be equal to the aggregate bases for the shares previously owned plus the amount paid for the newly acquired shares. Finally, it is unclear as to whether any gain or loss realized with respect to a deemed nondividend distribution in excess of stock basis would be calculated on a per-share basis or on an aggregate basis for all of the holder's shares, including the shares, or fraction thereof, purchased under the plan.

As to reinvested dividends, participants will be treated as having received a distribution from us equal to the fair market value on the investment date of the shares, if any, acquired with reinvested dividends pursuant to the plan plus the participant's share of any fees paid by us. Such distribution will be treated as a taxable dividend to the extent attributable to our current or accumulated earnings and profits. If we do not have earnings and profits, any excess will first be treated as a tax-free return of capital, causing a reduction in the basis of existing shares, and the balance will be treated as capital gain recognized on a sale or exchange. A participant's tax basis in the distributed shares will equal the fair market value of such shares on the investment date plus the participant's share of any fees paid by us.

A participant's holding period for shares acquired pursuant to the plan will begin on the day following the date on which the shares are credited to the participant's account. When a participant receives certificates for whole shares credited to the participant's account under the plan, the participant will not realize any taxable income. However, a participant that receives a cash adjustment for a fraction of a share will realize a gain or loss with respect to such fraction. A gain or loss also will be realized by the participant whenever whole shares are sold, either pursuant to the participant's request, upon withdrawal from the plan or after withdrawal from the plan. The amount of such gain or loss will be the difference between the amount that the participant receives for the shares or fraction of a share and the tax basis of the participant in the shares.

THE FOREGOING IS ONLY A SUMMARY OF THE FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE TAX ADVICE. THIS SUMMARY IS BASED ON THE CURRENT STATE OF FEDERAL LAW AND DOES NOT TAKE INTO ACCOUNT POSSIBLE CHANGES IN SUCH LAW. ANY SUCH CHANGES MAY HAVE RETROACTIVE EFFECT AND MAY ADVERSELY AFFECT THE DISCUSSION IN THIS SUMMARY. THIS SUMMARY DOES NOT ADDRESS THE SPECIAL TAX CONSEQUENCES THAT MAY BE APPLICABLE TO CERTAIN PARTICIPANTS SUBJECT TO SPECIAL TAX TREATMENT (INCLUDING TAX-EXEMPT ORGANIZATIONS, BROKERS, DEALERS AND FOREIGN STOCKHOLDERS). THIS SUMMARY DOES NOT REFLECT EVERY POSSIBLE OUTCOME THAT COULD RESULT FROM PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN AND, THEREFORE, PARTICIPANTS ARE ADVISED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS FOR FURTHER INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO THE FEDERAL, FOREIGN, STATE AND LOCAL TAX CONSEQUENCES OF PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN.

31. HOW ARE THE PARTICIPANT'S SHARES OF COMMON STOCK VOTED AT STOCKHOLDER MEETINGS?

The plan administrator will send participants proxy materials, including a proxy card, relating to both the shares for which participants hold physical certificates and the whole shares of our common stock held in their plan accounts. Shares will be voted at stockholder meetings as that participant directs by proxy. Shares of our common stock may also be voted in person at the meeting.

32. WHAT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF IRON MOUNTAIN AND THE PLAN ADMINISTRATOR UNDER THE PLAN?

We and the plan administrator, in administering the plan, are not liable for any act done in good faith or for any good faith omission to act, including, without limitation, any claim of liability:

with respect to the prices and times at which shares of our common stock are purchased or sold for a participant; or

with respect to any fluctuation in market value before or after any purchase or sale of shares of our common stock; or

arising out of any failure to terminate a participant's account upon that participant's death prior to the plan administrator's receipt of notice in writing of the death.

Neither we nor the plan administrator can provide any assurance of a profit, or protect a participant from a loss, on shares of our common stock purchased under the plan. These limitations of liability do not affect any liabilities arising under the federal securities laws, including the Securities Act.

The plan administrator may resign as plan administrator of the plan at any time, in which case we will appoint a successor plan administrator. In addition, we may replace the plan administrator with a successor plan administrator at any time.

33. WHAT HAPPENS IF WE MAKE A DISTRIBUTION OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK OR SPLIT OUR SHARES?

If there is a distribution payable in shares of our common stock or a common stock split, the plan administrator will receive and credit to the participant's plan account the applicable number of whole and/or fractional shares of common stock based on the number of shares of common stock held in the participant's plan account and registered in the participant's name. If we effect a reverse stock split, the number of shares held in each participant's plan account will be proportionately reduced.

34. WHAT HAPPENS IF WE HAVE A RIGHTS OFFERING?

If we have a rights offering in which separately tradable and exercisable rights are issued to registered holders of shares of our common stock, we will transfer the rights attributable to whole shares of our common stock held in a participant's plan account and registered in the participant's name to the plan participant as promptly as practicable after the rights are issued.

35. MAY A PARTICIPANT PLEDGE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK HELD IN HIS OR HER PLAN ACCOUNT?

A participant may not pledge shares of our common stock held in his or her plan account, and any such purported pledge will be void. A participant who wishes to pledge shares of our common stock must request that a certificate for those shares first be issued in the participant's name or that these shares be transferred to a brokerage account.

36. MAY WE SUSPEND OR TERMINATE THE PLAN?

We may suspend or terminate the plan at any time. If we suspend or terminate the plan, all funds held by us for investment will be returned without interest. We also reserve the right to modify, suspend, terminate or refuse participation in the plan to any person at any time.

37. MAY WE AMEND THE PLAN?

We may amend or supplement the plan at any time. Any amendment or supplement will only be effective upon mailing appropriate written notice at least 30 days prior to the effective date thereof to each participant. Written notice is not required when an amendment or supplement is necessary or appropriate to comply with the rules or policies of the SEC, the Internal Revenue Service or other regulatory authority or law, or when an amendment or supplement does not materially affect the rights of participants. The amendment or supplement will be deemed to be accepted by a participant unless, prior to the effective date thereof, the plan administrator receives notice of the termination of a participant's plan account. Any amendment may include an appointment by the plan administrator or by us of a successor bank or agent, in which event we are authorized to pay that successor bank or agent for the account of the participant all distributions payable on shares of our common stock held by the participant for application by that successor bank or agent as provided in the plan.

38. WHAT HAPPENS IF WE TERMINATE THE PLAN?

If the plan is terminated, each participant will receive (1) a certificate for all whole shares of our common stock held in the participant's plan account and (2) a check representing the value of any fractional shares of our common stock held in the participant's plan account, less any applicable fees and brokerage commissions and any uninvested distributions held in the account.

39. WHO INTERPRETS AND REGULATES THE PLAN?

We are authorized to issue such interpretations, adopt such regulations and take such action as we may deem reasonably necessary to effectuate the plan. Any action we or the plan administrator take to effectuate the plan in the good faith exercise of our judgment will be binding on participants.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Unless otherwise described in a prospectus supplement, we intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our common stock offered pursuant to the plan for general corporate purposes, which may include acquisitions, investments and the repayment of indebtedness outstanding at a particular time. Pending this utilization, the proceeds from the sale of our common stock offered pursuant to the plan will be invested in short-term, dividend-paying or interest-bearing investment grade securities.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Subject to the discussion below and except to the extent the plan administrator or its affiliated broker purchases shares of our common stock on the open market, we will distribute newly issued or treasury shares of our common stock sold under the plan, rather than through an underwriter, broker or dealer. There are no brokerage commissions in connection with the purchases of such newly issued or treasury shares of common stock.

In connection with the administration of the plan, we may be requested to approve investments made pursuant to requests for waiver by or on behalf of participants or other investors who may be engaged in the securities business.

Persons who acquire shares of common stock through the plan and resell them shortly after acquiring them, including coverage of short positions, under certain circumstances, may be participating in a distribution of securities that would require compliance with Regulation M under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and may be considered to be underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933. We will not extend to any such person any rights or privileges other than those to which it would be entitled as a participant, nor will we enter into any agreement with any such person regarding

the resale or distribution by any such person of the shares of our common stock so purchased. We may, however, accept investments made pursuant to requests for waiver by such persons.

From time to time, financial intermediaries, including brokers and dealers, and other persons may engage in positioning transactions in order to benefit from any waiver discounts applicable to investments made pursuant to requests for waiver under the plan. Those transactions may cause fluctuations in the trading volume of our common stock. Financial intermediaries and such other persons who engage in positioning transactions may be deemed to be underwriters. We have no arrangements or understandings, formal or informal, with any person relating to the sale of shares of our common stock to be received under the plan. We reserve the right to modify, suspend or terminate participation in the plan by otherwise eligible persons to eliminate practices that are inconsistent with the purpose of the plan.

We will pay any and all brokerage commissions and related expenses incurred in connection with purchases of our common stock under the plan. Upon withdrawal by a participant from the plan by the sale of shares of our common stock held under the plan, the participant will receive the proceeds of that sale less a service fee, brokerage commission and any applicable withholdings, transfer or other taxes.

Our common stock may not be available under the plan in all states. We are not making an offer to sell our common stock in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

SALES OF SHARES BY PARTICIPANTS

Participants that request the sale of any of their shares of common stock held in the plan must pay a service fee equal to \$15.00, plus a commission currently equal to \$0.10 per share, plus any applicable taxes. Shares of our common stock may not be available under the plan in all states. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, any shares of our common stock or other securities in any state or any other jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer in such jurisdiction.

DESCRIPTION OF OUR CAPITAL STOCK

The description below summarizes the more important terms of our capital stock. We have previously filed with the SEC copies of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as amended. See "Where You Can Find More Information." You should refer to those documents for the complete terms of our capital stock. This summary is subject to and qualified by reference to the description of the particular terms of your securities described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

General

Our authorized capital stock consists of 400,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$.01 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$.01 per share.

Preferred Stock

We are authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$0.01 par value per share. Our board of directors has been authorized, subject to limitations provided in our certificate of incorporation, to provide for the issuance of shares of our preferred stock in multiple series. No shares of our preferred stock are currently outstanding.

With respect to each series of our preferred stock, our board of directors has the authority to fix the following terms:

the designation of the series;

the number of shares within the series;

whether the shares are entitled to receive dividends and whether dividends are cumulative;

the rate of any dividends, any conditions upon which dividends are payable, and the dates of payment of dividends;

whether the shares are redeemable, the redemption price and the other terms of redemption;

whether the shares are entitled to any rights if we are dissolved or our assets are distributed;

whether the shares are convertible or exchangeable, the price or rate of exchange, and the applicable terms and conditions;

any restrictions on issuance of shares in the same series or any other series; and

your voting rights for the shares you own.

Holders of our preferred stock will not have preemptive rights with respect to shares of our preferred stock. In addition, rights with respect to shares of our preferred stock will be subordinate to the rights of our general creditors. If we receive the appropriate payment, shares of our preferred stock that we issue will be fully paid and nonassessable.

Common Stock

Voting Rights. Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on each matter to be decided by our stockholders, subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock that may be outstanding from time to time. Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation, there are no cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. The affirmative vote of holders of a plurality of the votes properly cast in any election of directors may elect all of the directors standing for election.

Dividend Rights and Limitations. Holders of common stock will be entitled to receive ratably any dividends or distributions that our board of directors may declare from time to time out of funds legally available for this purpose.

Dividends and other distributions on common stock are also subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock that may be outstanding from time to time and to the restrictions in our credit agreement and indentures. See " Preferred Stock."

Liquidation Rights. In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, after payment or provision for payment of all of our debts and obligations and any preferential distributions to holders of shares of preferred stock, if any, the holders of the common stock will be entitled to share ratably in our remaining assets available for distribution.

Miscellaneous. All outstanding shares of common stock are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Our board of directors has the power to issue shares of authorized but unissued common stock without further stockholder action. The issuance of these unissued shares could have the effect of diluting the earnings per share and book value per share of currently outstanding shares of common stock. The holders of common stock have no preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights.

Transfer Agent and Registrar. The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is The Bank of New York, 101 Barclay Street - 11 East, New York, New York 10286. Its telephone number is (800) 524-4458.

DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF DELAWARE LAW AND OUR CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS

We are organized as a Delaware corporation. The following is a summary of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and certain provisions of Delaware law. Because it is a summary, it does not contain all the information that may be important to you. If you want more information, you should read our entire certificate of incorporation and bylaws, copies of which we have previously filed with the SEC, see "Where You Can Find More Information," or refer to the provisions of Delaware law.

Delaware law, our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws contain some provisions that could delay or make more difficult the acquisition of us by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise. These provisions, as described below, are expected to discourage certain types of coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids and to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us first to negotiate with us. We believe that the benefits of increased protection of our ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure us outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging such proposals because, among other things, negotiations with respect to such proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Section 203 of The Delaware General Corporation Law

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, prohibits a defined set of transactions between a Delaware corporation, such as us, and an "interested stockholder." An interested stockholder is defined as a person who, together with any affiliates or associates of such person, beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 15% or more of the outstanding voting shares of a Delaware corporation. This provision may prohibit business combinations between an interested stockholder and a corporation for a period of three years after the date the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. The term "business combination" is broadly defined to include mergers, consolidations, sales or other dispositions of assets having a total value in excess of 10% of the consolidated assets of the corporation, and some other transactions that would increase the interested stockholder's proportionate share ownership in the corporation.

This prohibition is effective unless:

either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the interested stockholder becoming an interested stockholder is approved by our board of directors prior to the time the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder;

the interested stockholder owns at least 85% of our voting stock, other than stock held by directors who are also officers or by qualified employee stock plans, upon consummation of the transaction in which it becomes an interested stockholder; or

the business combination is approved by a majority of our board of directors and by the affirmative vote of $66^2/3\%$ of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

In general, the prohibitions do not apply to business combinations with persons who were interested stockholders prior to the corporation becoming subject to Section 203.

Other Provisions of Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Our bylaws provide that a vacancy on the board of directors, including a vacancy created by an increase in the size of the board of directors by the directors, may be filled by a majority of the remaining directors, or by a sole remaining director, or by the stockholders, and each person so elected shall be a director to serve for the balance of the unexpired term of the directors. Under the DGCL,

any director or the entire board of directors may be removed, with or without cause, by the holders of a majority of the shares then entitled to vote at the election of directors.

Certain other provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could have the effect of preventing or delaying any change in control of us, including:

the advance notification procedures imposed on stockholders for stockholder nominations of candidates for the board of directors and for other stockholder business to be conducted at annual or special meetings;

the absence of authority for stockholders to call special stockholder meetings; and

the absence of authority for stockholder action by unanimous or partial written consent in lieu of an annual or special meeting.

These provisions and statutory anti-takeover provisions, could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or discourage a third party from seeking to acquire, control of us.

Limitation of Directors' Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The DGCL permits a corporation to include a provision in its certificate of incorporation eliminating or limiting the personal liability of a director to a corporation or its stockholders for damages for certain breaches of the director's fiduciary duty. This provision may not eliminate or limit the liability of a director for:

breaches of the director's duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders;

acts or omissions not in good faith or involving intentional misconduct or knowing violations of law;

the payment of unlawful dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions; or

transactions from which the director received an improper personal benefit.

Our certificate of incorporation eliminates the liability of directors to the fullest extent permissible under Delaware law. These provisions offer persons who serve on the board of directors protection against awards of monetary damages for negligence in the performance of their duties.

Our bylaws also provide that directors or officers made a party to, or threatened to be made a party to, or otherwise involved in, any proceeding, because he or she is or was a representative of us or is or was serving as a representative of another corporation or any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, on our behalf, shall be indemnified and held harmless by us to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law against all expenses, liabilities and losses reasonably incurred by or imposed upon him or her, in connection with any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding. Indemnification is only available if such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to our best interests, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful.

Pursuant to our bylaws, amending the provisions to reduce the limitation of director's liability or limit the right to indemnification requires unanimous vote of the directors or a majority vote of the stockholders.

VALIDITY OF THE OFFERED SECURITIES

Sullivan & Worcester LLP, Boston, Massachusetts, will pass upon the validity of the common stock offered pursuant to this prospectus.

EXPERTS

The financial statements as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 incorporated in this prospectus from Iron Mountain's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 10, 2007 and management's report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting incorporated in this prospectus from Iron Mountain's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their reports which are incorporated herein by reference (which reports (1) express an unqualified opinion on the financial statements and include an explanatory paragraph related to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, (2) express an unqualified opinion on management's assessment regarding the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and (3) express an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting) and have been so incorporated in reliance upon the reports of such firm given their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are subject to the periodic reporting and other information requirements of the United States Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports, statements or other information on file at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can request copies of those documents upon payment of a duplicating fee to the SEC. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference rooms. You can review our SEC filings and the registration statement by accessing the SEC's Internet site at http://www.sec.gov. Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange where reports, proxy statements and other information concerning us can also be inspected. The offices of the NYSE are located at 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus. Statements in this prospectus regarding the contents of any contract or other document may not be complete. You should refer to the copy of the contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the registration statement. Later information filed with the SEC will update and supersede information we have included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

We incorporate by reference the following documents filed by us:

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 (except for Item 15 which is incorporated by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 10, 2007).

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2007, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2007.

Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 9, 2007, January 12, 2007, January 24, 2007, February 13, 2007, March 5, 2007, March 6, 2007 (Item 5.02 only), March 8, 2007, March 12, 2007, March 23, 2007, April, 20, 2007, May 10, 2007 and July 16, 2007.

The description of our common stock contained in the Registration Statement on Form 8-A dated May 27, 1997, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Form 8-A on June 3, 2005, and including all further amendments and reports filed for the purpose of updating such description.

In addition to the documents listed above, we incorporate by reference any future filings made by us with the SEC under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act until our offering of the securities made by this prospectus is completed or terminated.

We will provide you with a copy of the information we have incorporated by reference, excluding exhibits other than those to which we specifically refer. You may obtain this information at no cost by writing or telephoning us at: 745 Atlantic Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts 02111, (617) 535-4799, Attention: Investor Relations.

28

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution

Set forth below is an estimate (except in the case of the registration fee) of the amount of fees and expenses to be incurred in connection with the issuance and distribution of the offered securities registered hereby, other than underwriting discounts and commission, if any, incurred in connection with the sale of the offered securities. All such amounts will be borne by Iron Mountain Incorporated, or Iron Mountain or the Company.

Registration Fee Under Securities Act of 1933	\$ *
Legal Fees and Expenses	\$ 450,000
Accounting Fees and Expenses	\$ 450,000
Printing and Engraving Expenses	\$ 150,000
Trustee's Fees (including counsel fees)	\$ 150,000
Rating Agencies Fees	\$ 150,000
Miscellaneous Fees and Expenses	\$ 150,000
Total:	\$ 1,500,000

In accordance with Rule 456(b) and 457(r) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, we are deferring payment of the registration fee for the securities offered hereby.

Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Under Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, the Company is empowered to indemnify its directors and officers in the circumstances therein provided. Certain portions of Section 145 are summarized below:

Section 145(a) of the DGCL provides that a corporation may indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the corporation) by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in the manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person's conduct was unlawful.

Section 145(b) of the DGCL provides that a corporation may indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to the extent that the Delaware Court of Chancery or the court in which such action or suit

was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Delaware Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.

Section 145(c) of the DGCL provides that to the extent that a present or former director or officer of a corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in Section 145(a) and (b), or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith.

Section 145(d) of the DGCL provides that any indemnification under Section 145(a) and (b) (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the corporation only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the present or former director, officer, employee or agent is proper in the circumstances because such person has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 145(a) and (b). Such determination shall be made, with respect to a person who is a director or officer at the time of such determination, (1) by a majority vote of the directors who were not parties to such action, suit or proceeding, even though less than a quorum, or (2) by a committee of such directors designated by majority vote of such directors, even though less than a quorum, or (3) if there are no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, or (4) by the stockholders.

Section 145(e) of the DGCL provides that expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by an officer or director in defending any civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding may be paid by the corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such director or officer to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that such person is not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation as authorized in Section 145. Such expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by former directors and officers or other employees and agents may be so paid upon such terms and conditions, if any, as the corporation deems appropriate.

Section 145(f) of the DGCL provides that the indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, Section 145 shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any bylaw, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in such person's official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office.

Section 145(g) of the DGCL provides that a corporation shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person's status as such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under Section 145.

Article 12 of the Company's bylaws provides indemnification to directors and officers for all actions taken by them and for all failures to take action to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law against all expense, liability and loss reasonably incurred or suffered by them in connection with any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding (including, without limitation, an action, suit or proceeding by or in the right of the Company), whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative. Article 12 also permits the Company, by action of its board of directors, to indemnify employees and other agents of the Company to the same extent as directors and officers. Amendments, repeals or modifications of Article 12 can only be prospective and no such change may reduce the limitations of director's liability or limit indemnification or advancement of expenses unless adopted by the unanimous vote of all of the directors then serving or the affirmative vote of the holders of a

majority of the outstanding shares of stock of the Company entitled to vote in elections of directors. Article 12 further permits the Company to maintain insurance, at its expense, for the benefit of any person on behalf of whom insurance is permitted to be purchased by Delaware law against any such expenses, liability or loss, whether or not the Company would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under Delaware or other law.

Reference is made to our bylaws filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, on May 27, 2005. Reference is also made to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Item 16. Exhibits

Certain exhibits indicated below are incorporated by reference to documents of Iron Mountain on file with the SEC. Exhibit numbers in parentheses refer to the exhibit numbers in the applicable filing.

Exhibit No.	Item	Exhibit	
1.1	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Debt Securities).	*	
1.2	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Preferred Stock).	*	
1.3	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Depositary Shares).	*	
1.4	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Common Stock).	*	
1.5	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Warrants).	*	
1.6	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Stock Purchase Contracts).	*	
1.7	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Stock Purchase Units).	*	
1.8	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Trust Preferred Securities).	*	
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between Iron Mountain	(2.1)(5)	
	Incorporated, a Pennsylvania corporation, and Iron Mountain		
	Incorporated, a Delaware corporation, dated as of May 27, 2005.		
4.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as	(3.1)(6)	
4.2	amended.	(2.2)(5)	
4.2	Bylaws of the Company.	(3.2)(5)	
4.3	Senior Subordinated Indenture, dated as of December 30, 2002, among	(4.7)(4)	
	the Company, the Guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York		
	Trust Company, N.A. (successor to The Bank of New York), as trustee.	(4.1)(0)	
4.4	Form of Senior Indenture.	(4.1)(3)	
4.5	Form of Senior Subordinated Indenture.	(4.2)(3)	
4.6	Form of Subordinated Indenture.	(4.3)(3)	
4.7	Form of Senior Debt Security.	*	
4.8	Form of Senior Subordinated Debt Security.	*	
4.9	Form of Subordinated Debt Security.	*	
4.10	Form of stock certificate representing shares of Common Stock, \$.01 par	(4.1)(1)	
	value per share, of the Company.		
4.11	Form of Certificate of Designation for shares of Preferred Stock, \$.01 par	*	
	value per share, of the Company.		

4.12	Form of stock certificate representing shares of Preferred Stock, \$.01 par	*
	value per share, of the Company.	
4.13	Form of Deposit Agreement, including form of Depositary Receipt for	*
	Depositary Shares.	
4.14	Form of Warrant Agreement, including form of Warrant.	*
4.15	Form of Stock Purchase Contract.	*
4.16	Form of Stock Purchase Unit.	*
4.17	Declaration of Trust of IM Capital Trust I, dated as of December 10,	(4.15)(2)
	2001, among the Company, The Bank of New York, The Bank of New	
	York (Delaware) and John P. Lawrence, as trustees.	
4.18	Form of Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of IM Capital Trust	(4.16)(2)
	I.	
4.19	Certificate of Trust of IM Capital Trust I.	(4.17)(2)
4.20	Form of Trust Preferred Security.	Included in Exhibit 4.18
4.21	Form of Iron Mountain Incorporated Guarantee Agreement.	(4.19)(2)
5.1	Opinion of Sullivan & Worcester LLP.	Filed herewith as Exhibit 5.1
5.2	Opinion of Gesmer Updegrove LLP.	Filed herewith as Exhibit 5.2
5.3	Opinion of Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A., relating to IM Capital Trust	Filed herewith as Exhibit 5.3
	I.	
8	Opinion of Sullivan & Worcester LLP regarding tax matters.	*
12.1	Statement Regarding Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed	Filed herewith as Exhibit 12.1
	Charges.	
12.2	Statement Regarding Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges	*
	and Preferred Stock Dividends.	
23.1	Consent of Sullivan & Worcester LLP.	Included in Exhibit 5.1
23.2	Consent of Gesmer Updegrove LLP.	Included in Exhibit 5.2
23.3	Consent of Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A.	Included in Exhibit 5.3
23.4	Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.	Filed herewith as Exhibit 23.4
24	Powers of Attorney.	Contained on pages II-8, II-9
		and II-13 of the Registration
		Statement

25.	Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee under the Senior Subordinated Indenture, dated as of December 30, 2002, among the Company, the Guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York	Filed herewith as Exhibit 25.1
25.2	Trust Company, N.A. (successor to The Bank of New York), as trustee. Statement of Eligibility of Trustee on Form T-1 under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee under the Senior Indenture.	*
25.3		*
25.4		*
25.5		*
25.0		*
*		
	To be filed by amendment or incorporated by reference in connection with the	he offering of offered securities, as appropriate.
1.	Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated Febr	ruary 1, 2000, filed with the SEC, File No. 1-13045.
2.	Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Registration Statement No. 333-75068,	filed with the SEC on December 13, 2001.
3.	Filed as an exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Company's Registration State 2002.	ement No. 333-75068, filed with the SEC on February 11,
4.	Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year. No. 1-13045.	ear ended December 31, 2002, filed with the SEC, File
5.	Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated May	y 27, 2005, filed with the SEC File No. 1-3045.
6.	Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year. No. 1-13045.	ear ended December 31, 2006, filed with the SEC, File
Item 17.	Undertakings	
(a)	Each of the undersigned registrants hereby undertakes:	
	(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made,	a post-effective amendment to this registration statement
	(i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of	of the Securities Act of 1933;

II-5

- To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in this registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement; and
- (iii)

 To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in this registration statement or any material change to such information in this registration statement;

provided, however, that paragraphs (a)(1)(i), (a)(1)(ii) and (a)(1)(iii) do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in periodic reports filed with or furnished to the SEC by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement, or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of the registration statement.

- That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.
- (3)

 To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (4) That for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:
 - (i) Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and
 - Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof. *Provided, however*, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the

registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date.

(5)
That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities:

The undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

- (i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
- (ii)

 Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;
- (iii)

 The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and
- (iv)

 Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.
- The undersigned registrants hereby further undertake that, for the purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of Iron Mountain's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act) that is incorporated by reference in this registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.
- Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrants pursuant to the provisions described under Item 15 of this registration statement, or otherwise, the registrants have been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrants of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrants in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrants will, unless in the opinion of their counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
- (d)

 Each of the undersigned registrants hereby undertakes to file an application for the purpose of determining the eligibility of each trustee to act under subsection (a) of Section 310 of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, or the Act, in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed by the SEC under Section 305(b)(2) of the Act.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Company certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Boston, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on July 18, 2007.

IRON MOUNTAIN INCORPORATED

By: /s/ BRIAN P. MCKEON

Brian P. McKeon Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement on Form S-3 has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated. The undersigned officers and directors of the Company hereby severally constitute and appoint C. Richard Reese and Brian P. McKeon, and each of them acting singly, our true and lawful attorneys to sign for us and in our names in the capacities indicated below any and all post-effective amendments or supplements to this registration statement on Form S-3 and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the SEC, granting unto each of said attorneys, acting singly, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming our signatures to said amendments to this registration statement signed by our said attorneys and all else that said attorneys may lawfully do and cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ C. RICHARD REESE	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	July 18, 2007
C. Richard Reese		
/s/ BRIAN P. MCKEON	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	July 18, 2007
Brian P. McKeon	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)	
	Director	
Clarke H. Bailey		
/s/ CONSTANTIN R. BODEN	Director	July 18, 2007
Constantin R. Boden		
	II-8	

/s/ KENT P. DAUTEN	Director	July 18, 2007
Kent P. Dauten		
/s/ MICHAEL LAMACH	Director	July 18, 2007
Michael Lamach		
/s/ ARTHUR D. LITTLE	Director	July 18, 2007
Arthur D. Little		
/s/ VINCENT J. RYAN	Director	July 18, 2007
Vincent J. Ryan		
/s/ LAURIE A. TUCKER	Director	July 18, 2007
Laurie A. Tucker	II-9	

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, IM Capital Trust I certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Boston, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on July 18, 2007.

IM CAPITAL TRUST I

By: Iron Mountain Incorporated, as Sponsor

By: /s/ BRIAN P. MCKEON

Brian P. McKeon

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

II-10

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, COMAC, Inc., Iron Mountain Global, Inc., Iron Mountain Government Services Incorporated, Iron Mountain Information Management, Inc., Iron Mountain Intellectual Property Management, Inc., Mountain Real Estate Assets, Inc., Mountain Reserve III, Inc., Nettlebed Acquisition Corp., Treeline Services Corporation, Iron Mountain Global LLC, Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 1998, Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 2001, have each duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Boston, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on July 18, 2007.

COMAC, INC.,
IRON MOUNTAIN GLOBAL, INC.,
IRON MOUNTAIN GOVERNMENT SERVICES
INCORPORATED,
IRON MOUNTAIN INFORMATION MANAGEMENT, INC.,
IRON MOUNTAIN INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT, INC.,
MOUNTAIN REAL ESTATE ASSETS, INC.
MOUNTAIN RESERVE III, INC.,
NETTLEBED ACQUISITION CORP., and
TREELINE SERVICES CORPORATION

By: /s/ C. RICHARD REESE

Name: C. Richard Reese Title: Chief Executive Officer

IRON MOUNTAIN GLOBAL LLC

By: Iron Mountain Global, Inc., Its Sole Member

By: /s/ C. RICHARD REESE

Name: C. Richard Reese Title: Chief Executive Officer

IRON MOUNTAIN STATUTORY TRUST 1998

By: U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION not individually but as Owner Trustee under that certain Amended and Restated Owner Trust Agreement dated as of October 1, 1998, as amended

By: /s/ JOHN CORREIA

Name: John Correia Title: Vice President

II-11

IRON MOUNTAIN STATUTORY TRUST 1999

By: U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION not individually but as Owner Trustee under that certain Owner Trust Agreement dated as of July 1, 1999, as amended

By: /s/ JOHN CORREIA

Name: John Correia Title: Vice President

IRON MOUNTAIN STATUTORY TRUST 2001

By: U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, not individually but as Trustee under that certain Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust dated as of May 22, 2001, as amended

By: /s/ JOHN CORREIA

Name: John Correia Title: Vice President

II-12

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement on Form S-3 has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated. Each of the undersigned officers or directors or managers or trustees of COMAC, Inc., Iron Mountain Global, Inc., Iron Mountain Government Services Incorporated, Iron Mountain Information Management, Inc., Iron Mountain Intellectual Property Management, Inc., Mountain Real Estate Assets, Inc., Mountain Reserve III, Inc., Nettlebed Acquisition Corp. and Treeline Services Corporation (collectively, the "Corporate Subsidiaries"), Iron Mountain Global LLC, Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 1998, Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 1999 and Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 2001, hereby severally constitutes and appoints C. Richard Reese and Brian P. Mckeon, and each of them acting singly, our true and lawful attorneys to sign for us and in our names in the capacities indicated below any and all post-effective amendments or supplements to this registration statement on Form S-3 and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the SEC, granting unto each of said attorneys, acting singly, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming our signatures to said amendments to this registration statement signed by our said attorneys and all else that said attorneys may lawfully do and cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature		Title	Date	
/s/ C	C. RICHARD REESE	Chief Executive Officer of the Corporate	July 18, 2007	
		Subsidiaries	our, 10, 2007	
C. Ri	ichard Reese			
/s/ B	BRIAN P. MCKEON	Chief Financial Officer of the Corporate Subsidiaries	July 18, 2007	
Brian	n P. McKeon			
By:	/s/ JOHN CORREIA	Owner Trustee of Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 1998 and Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 1999;	July 18, 2007	
	Name: John Correia Title: Vice President	Trustee of Iron Mountain Statutory Trust 2001		
Iron	Mountain Global, Inc.			
By:	/s/ C. RICHARD REESE	Sole Member of Iron Mountain Global LLC	July 18, 2007	
	Name: C. Richard Reese Title: Chief Executive Officer			
/s/ J	OHN P. LAWRENCE	Sole Director of the Corporate Subsidiaries	July 18, 2007	
John	P. Lawrence			
		II-13		

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	Item	Exhibit	
	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Debt Securities).	*	
1.2	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Preferred Stock).	*	
1.3	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Depositary Shares).	*	
1.4	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Common Stock).	*	
1.5	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Warrants).	*	
1.6	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Stock Purchase Contracts).	*	
1.7	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Stock Purchase Units).	*	
1.8	Form of Underwriting Agreement (for Trust Preferred Securities).	*	
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between Iron Mountain	(2.1)(5)	
	Incorporated, a Pennsylvania corporation, and Iron Mountain		
	Incorporated, a Delaware corporation, dated as of May 27, 2005.		
4.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as	(3.1)(6)	
	amended.		
4.2	Bylaws of the Company.	(3.2)(5)	
4.3	Senior Subordinated Indenture, dated as of December 30, 2002, among	(4.7)(4)	
	the Company, the Guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York		
	Trust Company, N.A. (Successor to The Bank of New York), as trustee.		
4.4	Form of Senior Indenture.	(4.1)(3)	
4.5	Form of Senior Subordinated Indenture.	(4.2)(3)	
4.6	Form of Subordinated Indenture.	(4.3)(3)	
4.7	Form of Senior Debt Security.	*	
4.8	Form of Senior Subordinated Debt Security.	*	
4.9	Form of Subordinated Debt Security.	*	
4.10	Form of stock certificate representing shares of Common Stock, \$.01 par	(4.1)(1)	
	value per share, of the Company.		
4.11	Form of Certificate of Designation for shares of Preferred Stock, \$.01 par	*	
	value per share, of the Company.		
4.12	Form of stock certificate representing shares of Preferred Stock, \$.01 par	*	
	value per share, of the Company.		
4.13	Form of Deposit Agreement, including form of Depositary Receipt for	*	
	Depositary Shares.		
4.14	Form of Warrant Agreement, including form of Warrant.	*	
	Form of Stock Purchase Contract.	*	
4.16	Form of Stock Purchase Unit.	*	
4.17	Declaration of Trust of IM Capital Trust I, dated as of December 10,	(4.15)(2)	
	2001, among the Company, The Bank of New York, The Bank of New		
	York (Delaware) and John P. Lawrence, as trustees.		
4.18	Form of Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of IM Capital Trust	(4.16)(2)	
	I.	, ,,,	
4.19	Certificate of Trust of IM Capital Trust I.	(4.17)(2)	

4.20 4.21	Form of Trust Preferred Security. Form of Iron Mountain Incorporated Guarantee Agreement.	Included in Exhibit 4.18 (4.19)(2)
5.1	Opinion of Sullivan & Worcester LLP.	Filed herewith as Exhibit 5.1
5.2	Opinion of Gesmer Updegrove LLP.	Filed herewith as Exhibit 5.2
5.3	Opinion of Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A., relating to IM Capital Trust L	Filed herewith as Exhibit 5.3
8	Opinion of Sullivan & Worcester LLP regarding tax matters.	*
12.1	Statement Regarding Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.	Filed herewith as Exhibit 12.1
12.2	Statement Regarding Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.	*
23.1	Consent of Sullivan & Worcester LLP.	Included in Exhibit 5.1
23.2	Consent of Gesmer Updegrove LLP.	Included in Exhibit 5.2
	Consent of Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A.	Included in Exhibit 5.3
23.4	•	Filed herewith as Exhibit 23.4
24	Powers of Attorney.	Contained on pages II-8, II-9
		and II-13 of the Registration
		Statement
25.1	Statement of Eligibility of Trustee on Form T-1 under the Trust	Filed herewith
	Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee under the Senior	as Exhibit 25.1
	Subordinated Indenture, dated as of December 30, 2002, among the	
	Company, the Guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York	
	Trust Company, N.A. (Successor to The Bank of New York), as trustee.	
25.2	Statement of Eligibility of Trustee on Form T-1 under the Trust	*
	Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee under the Senior	
	Indenture.	
25.3	Statement of Eligibility of Trustee on Form T-1 under the Trust	*
	Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee under the Senior	
	Subordinated Indenture.	
25.4	Statement of Eligibility of Trustee on Form T-1 under the Trust	*
	Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee under the Subordinated Indenture.	
25.5	Statement of Eligibility of Trustee on Form T-1 under the Trust	*
	Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee under the Amended	
	and Restated Declaration of Trust of IM Capital Trust I.	

25.6 Statement of Eligibility of Trustee on Form T-1 under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee under the Iron Mountain Incorporated Guarantee Agreement for IM Capital Trust I.

- To be filed by amendment or incorporated by reference in connection with the offering of offered securities, as appropriate.

 Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 1, 2000, filed with the SEC, File No. 1-13045.

 Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Registration Statement No. 333-75068, filed with the SEC on December 13, 2001.

 Filed as an exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Company's Registration Statement No. 333-75068, filed with the SEC on February 11, 2002.

 Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed with the SEC, File No. 1-13045.
- Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, filed with the SEC, File No. 1-13045.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 27, 2005, filed with the SEC File No. 1-3045.

QuickLinks

SUBSIDIARY GUARANTOR REGISTRANTS(1)

EXPLANATORY NOTE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

OUR COMPANY

IM CAPITAL TRUST I

RISK FACTORS

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

USE OF PROCEEDS

DESCRIPTION OF OUR DEBT SECURITIES

DESCRIPTION OF OUR CAPITAL STOCK

DESCRIPTION OF OUR DEPOSITARY SHARES

DESCRIPTION OF OUR WARRANTS

DESCRIPTION OF THE STOCK PURCHASE CONTRACTS AND THE STOCK PURCHASE UNITS

DESCRIPTION OF THE TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES

DESCRIPTION OF THE TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES GUARANTEE

RELATIONSHIP AMONG THE DEBT SECURITIES, THE TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES AND THE TRUST PREFERRED

SECURITIES GUARANTEE

DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF DELAWARE LAW AND OUR CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

VALIDITY OF THE OFFERED SECURITIES

EXPERTS

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS</u>

OUR COMPANY

RISK FACTORS

DESCRIPTION OF OUR DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

USE OF PROCEEDS

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

SALES OF SHARES BY PARTICIPANTS

DESCRIPTION OF OUR CAPITAL STOCK

DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF DELAWARE LAW AND OUR CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS

VALIDITY OF THE OFFERED SECURITIES

EXPERTS

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

SIGNATURES

SIGNATURES

POWER OF ATTORNEY

EXHIBIT INDEX